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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
　

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Southwest Securities International Securities 
Limited (the “Company” or “SWSI”), I hereby present the annual report and audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the 
“Review Period”).

In 2021, the situation of global pandemic prevention and control was still severe and complicated, the original 
virus has undergone multiple variants since it became epidemic in 2020, from Delta to Lambda, then further 
evolved into Omicron. Nevertheless, China had devoted great efforts to pandemic containment and has delivered 
outstanding anti-pandemic achievements. Against this backdrop, China had also achieved relatively good economic 
results in 2021. China’s economy increased by 8.1% throughout 2021, which is higher than that of the major global 
economies. By virtue of the recovery of the external demands, private consumption and other aspects, Hong Kong, 
China had also reversed the economic decline for the past two years with a strong rebound of GDP in 2021, and 
achieved a substantial year-on-year increase of 6.4%.

As for the financial market, affected by various factors such as the repeated outbreaks of COVID-19 pandemic, the 
inflation pressure and the enhancement of industry regulation, etc., the Hang Seng Index trended upward first and 
then slid downward in 2021, and recorded a decrease of approximately 14% throughout 2021. However, the Hong 
Kong equity market as a whole is still attractive to global funds. As an evidence, the total turnover of the Hong Kong 
equity market recorded a double-digit growth year-on-year in 2021. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and other factors, the number of new companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange recorded a year-on-
year decrease in 2021, while still ranking fourth in terms of IPOs globally, behind only to the Nasdaq Stock Market, 
the New York Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The Hong Kong Stock Exchange will promote the 
optimization of listing regime for overseas issuers, which is expected to attract more quality enterprises to seek a 
primary or secondary listing in Hong Kong. Besides, the Hong Kong government will further expand the channels 
for the two-way flow of cross-boundary RMB funds and develop offshore RMB products and instruments, which are 
supposed to promote the investment and financing activities in the Greater Bay Area and enhance its position as an 
international financial center.

Looking ahead in 2022, the challenges and opportunities coexist. On the one hand, the global pandemic becomes 
more complex as a result of the variants, and it is difficult to have the pandemic under effective control in a short 
time. Meanwhile, issues such as globally high price of energy and bulk commodities, high inflation and global 
supply chain interruptions, have dampening effect on the economy. International Monetary Fund ("IMF") had 
reduced its expectation of the global economic growth rate for 2022 from 5.9% to 4.4%. Since 2022, Hong Kong 
has also been attacked by two of the variants: Delta and Omicron, and the number of infections has reached a 
new high level, which brings challenges to the economic activities. Under the current situation, it is expected that 
major economies which adopted ultra-loose monetary policies previously may gradually tighten their policies, for 
instance, the expected intense rate rises of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board, which will also have a certain impact on 
the risk appetite of the global capital market. On the other hand, the introduction of the specific oral medications 
for COVID-19 and the increase of vaccination rates are both conducive to the control of the global pandemic. In 
addition, many countries have also introduced corresponding policies to promote economic recovery. Since 2021, 
the People's Republic of China ("PRC") central government had implemented a series of changes in policies, 
covering monetary, fisical, financial, real estate, consumption and other aspects, so as to promote the “steady 
growth” of economy. Hong Kong government has been constantly adjusting its anti-pandemic measures, while 
the central and local governments in mainland China are also making every effort to help Hong Kong stabilize and 
control the pandemic as soon as possible. In the long run, the world will eventually overcome the pandemic, and 
economic development will be gradually put on track. As for Hong Kong, positive factors such as the 14th Five-Year 
Plan of the PRC and the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area will bring a positive 
impact on its development. Through integrating its own growth strategy into the national development plan, Hong 
Kong will also have a bright future.
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During the Review Period, the total assets of the Company amounted to approximately HK$1,756 million and 
the net assets amounted to approximately HK$220 million. During the Review Period, its net loss amounted to 
approximately HK$59 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$80 million in net loss as compared with 
the same period in 2020, which is attributable to the decrease of major revenue and staff cost by approximately 
HK$122 million and HK$47 million, respectively.

As the overseas securities platform of Chongqing state-owned assets system, the Company plays an irreplaceable 
role. In particular, it shall keep a foothold in Hong Kong, such an important connection in the "Belt and Road" 
region, give full play to the resource advantages of Hong Kong as an international financial center and the 
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, and effectively connect domestic and foreign customers, funds 
and projects. SWSI will satisfy the international business needs of domestic and foreign customers with quality 
products and services in the international capital market, and actively serve the entities in Chongqing and even the 
PRC as a whole, contributing to high-quality economic development. In the future, the Company will stringently 
abide by the bottom line of compliance and risk control, and take compliance and risk control as the cornerstone 
of the Company's long-term development. By giving full play to its special advantages of being a state-owned 
enterprise in Chongqing and its irreplaceable role, keeping a foothold in the PRC and eyeing on the global market, 
SWSI will develop a service philosophy that pursues long-term goals and gives top priority to customer interests. 
It will strengthen the interconnection between the domestic and overseas businesses, with asset management 
business as the critical breakthrough, establish a good brand reputation through the asset management business, 
and accumulate corporate customers, institutional customers and high-net-worth customer resources, which in turn 
will boost corporate finance business and brokerage business to a higher level, striving to become a boutique global 
financial institution featuring “investment+corporate finance”.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our clients, business partners and 
shareholders for their loyalty and strong support to the Group, and to our staffs for their dedication and hard work 
that have driven the Group to move forward with prudence.

Wu Jian
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
　

MARKET REVIEW
Macro Environment
In 2021, there were recurring waves of COVID-19 pandemic around the world. As of 31 December 2021, there were 
over 280 million confirmed COVID-19 cases, over 250 million recovered cases and over 5.445 million fatal cases 
worldwide. According to Our World in Data, 40% of the world population have injected at least one dose of vaccine 
by the end of 2021 in most countries. The Omicron variant of the COVID-19 virus is now spreading rapidly and 
dominating the world. With increasing number of vaccinated people worldwide, it is expected that the spread of the 
epidemic will slow down to some extent and the chance of serious illness will be effectively reduced.

Despite 2021 being the second year of recurrent COVID-19 outbreaks, the global economy has recovered strongly 
under the loosening of global liquidity and the launching of economic stimulus measures. China has also achieved 
a good start in the 14th Five-Year Plan in 2021. In 2021, China's total GDP exceeded RMB110 trillion, a year-on-
year increase of 8.1%. Although the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a periodical impact on China's consumption 
and other fields, the manufacturing industry showed strong resilience, and the performance of exports was also 
satisfactory. Entering 2022, the global economy faces new challenges and opportunities. China has also formulated 
a series of policies to maintain sustainable and healthy economic and social development. In March 2022, the 
Chinese central government proposed at the Two Sessions that the economic work in 2022 should prioritize stability 
while pursuing progress. The Chinese central government discussed many important development issues such as 
tax and fee reductions, support for the development of foreign investment, a prudent and flexible monetary policy, 
promotion of consumption, and expansion of investment. It is believed that China's economy can achieve steady 
growth under the guidance of active policies.

At the end of 2021, the Russia-Ukraine conflict continued to intensify and deteriorate rapidly and a war broke out 
between Russia and Ukraine on 24 February 2022. The Russia-Ukraine war has not yet ended and both sides have 
started negotiations. However, the outbreak of the war has exceeded the previous expectations of market and has 
brought severe impacts to the market. Under the background of post-epidemic era, economic stimulation policies 
and chaotic supply chains have led to high inflation globally, which has been further exacerbated by the war. As 
both sides of the war, especially Russia, play a very important role in energy supply, the current sanctions have led 
to a significant increase in oil and gas prices, driving increases in other commodities and a globally sustained high 
inflation. On the other hand, under the risk aversion scenario, global stock markets have also experienced sharp 
correction. The Russia-Ukraine war still has a high degree of uncertainty in the short term, but its long-term effects 
have begun to emerge slowly. Since Russia occupies an extremely important position in the global supply chain in 
terms of energy supply and food supply, long-term sanctions will cause the global supply chain to be restructured 
accordingly, while the supply chain chaos that began with the pandemic may last longer. The energy crisis caused by 
the Russia-Ukraine war and the possible subsequent food crisis are expected to drive all countries to re-examine the 
far-reaching impacts of globalisation and, at the same time, they will pay more attention to their independence and 
stability in terms of energy, food and information security.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
　

7Annual Report 2021　Southwest Securities International Securities Limited

Hong Kong Stock Market
The Hang Seng Index trended upward first and then slid downward in 2021. As at the beginning of the year, due to 
the economic recovery, the increasing number of people vaccinated, the record net inflow from Southbound Trading 
and other favourable factors, the stock market continued to gain momentum. The Hang Seng Index recorded a 
period high of 31,183 points in mid-February, representing an increase of 6.4% in the first two months of 2021. 
Economic data from major global economies were generally positive in the second quarter, and the Hang Seng 
Index continued to increase by 1.6% in the second quarter.

However, since the second half of the year, the repeated outbreaks of COVID-19 worldwide due to virus mutations, 
increased concerns on tighter liquidity due to rising inflation, and the strengthened regulation in some industries 
have all limited the growth in the Hong Kong stock market. The Hang Seng Index closed at 23,398 points at the 
end of December 2021, representing a decrease of 14.1% compared with that of late December 2020; the HSCEI 
closed at 8,236 points at the end of December 2021, representing a significant decrease of 23.3% compared with 
that of late December 2020; and the Hang Seng TECH Index closed at 5,671 points at the end of December 2021, 
representing a significant decrease of 32.7% compared with that of late December 2020.

In 2021, the total turnover of the Hong Kong equity market recorded a year-on-year increase of 28.3% to HK$41.2 
trillion, while the average daily turnover was HK$166.7 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 28.8%, and 
such increase was partially attributable to the attractiveness of Southbound Trading. The total average daily turnover 
(buys + sells) of Southbound Trading under the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shenzhen-Hong Kong 
Stock Connect schemes was HK$41.7 billion in 2021, representing a significant year-on-year increase of 71.1%. 
Southbound Trading accounted for 12.5% in the average daily turnover of the Hong Kong market, representing an 
increase of 3.1 percentage points year-on-year, which reflected the increasing influence on the Hong Kong equity 
market of the investors in mainland. At late December 2021, the number of companies listed on the Main Board 
and GEM amounted to 2,572 (including 2,219 companies listed on the Main Board, representing an increase of 49 
in number or an increase of 2.3% compared with that of late December 2020), representing an increase of 34 in 
number or a slight increase of 1.3% compared with that of late December 2020, while the total market value of the 
stock market decreased by 10.8% year-on-year to HK$42.4 trillion, which was mainly attribute to the decrease of 
the Hang Seng Index in 2021. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the decision of the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange to raise the profitability requirements for the Main Board, only 98 new companies were listed 
(including 2 companies which transferred its listing from GEM to the Main Board) in 2021, representing a significant 
decrease of 56 in number or a decrease of 36.4% year-on-year. Nevertheless, as the increase in number of listings 
of biotechnology companies and companies with a weighted voting rights structure in 2021, Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange raised HK$328.9 billion from initial public offerings, only representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.8%. 
However, the ranking of Hong Kong Stock Exchange in terms of IPOs globally has fallen from the second place in 
2020 to the fourth place in 2021, behind only to the Nasdaq Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange and the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

In 2021, the market share of Category A participants (Position 1 to 14) on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
rose by about 1.3 percentage points to approximately 59.8% compared with that of 2020. On the contrary, the 
market share of Category B (Position 15 to 65) decreased by about 1.0 percentage point to approximately 33.4% 
compared with that of 2020, while the market share of Category C (Position ranking after 65) further decreased 
about 0.3 percentage point to approximately 6.9% compared with that of 2020. The market share of Category 
A continuously increased while the market shares of Category B and C continuously decreased, reflecting the 
unattenuated situation of “survival of the fittest” for brokers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group’s principal businesses are brokerage and margin financing, corporate finance, asset management and 
proprietary trading. During the Review Period, the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$59.0 
million (2020: loss before tax of HK$138.5 million), representing a decrease in loss before tax of approximately 
HK$79.5 million or 57.4% as compared to that in the last review period. The following are the items with significant 
fluctuations:

The Group recorded net gains from proprietary trading during the Review Period which amounted to approximately 
HK$108.1 million (2020: net gains of HK$200.6 million), representing a decrease in net gains of approximately 
HK$92.5 million or 46.1% as compared to that in the last review period.

The Group’s revenue from brokerage and margin financing for the Review Period amounted to approximately 
HK$12.8 million (2020: HK$27.7 million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$14.9 million or 53.8% as 
compared to that in the last review period.

The Group’s expected credit losses on financial assets for the Review Period amounted to approximately HK$1.5 
million (2020: HK$149.3 million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$147.8 million or 99.0% as compared 
to that in the last review period.

Brokerage and Margin Financing
The revenue generated from the Group’s brokerage and margin financing business during the Review Period 
amounted to approximately HK$12.8 million (2020: HK$27.7 million).

The Group’s brokerage and margin financing business mainly includes agency trading of securities, futures and 
options trading, and provision of insurance brokerage services, margin financing services, financial products business 
and one-stop integrated investment and financing services for high-net-worth customers. During the Review Period, 
the revenue from the Group's brokerage and margin financing business amounted to approximately HK$12.8 million 
as compared to HK$27.7 million for the same period last year, representing a decrease of HK$14.9 million or 53.8%.

As the pandemic persists, the time for resumption of quarantine-free travel between China and Hong Kong remains 
unknown, so that the local economy continued to be hit, cross-border business was also hindered, and the number 
of new customers has plummeted. Meanwhile, as there were many uncertainties in the market, the Hang Seng Index 
fell from 27,231 points at the end of 2020 to 23,398 points at the end of 2021, representing an annual decline of 
more than 14%, which seriously discouraged customers' desire to enter the market and directly affected commission 
revenue. The brokerage commission revenue amounted to approximately HK$8.0 million during the Review 
Period as compared to HK$13.5 million for the same period in 2020, representing a decrease of HK$5.5 million or 
approximately 41%, of which the futures and options commission revenue recorded a significant decrease of 67%. 
In order to improve its cost-effectiveness, the Group has stopped the direct operations of futures and options at the 
end of last year.
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In terms of margin financing business, the interest income during the Review Period amounted to approximately 
HK$4.8 million as compared to HK$14.2 million for the same period in 2020, representing a decrease of HK$9.4 
million or approximately 66% mainly due to the suspension of interest income recognition of the credit-impaired 
margin loan. During the Review Period, the Group held fast to measures to strictly monitor credit risks and equity 
concentration risks. While striving to manage risks in a prudent manner, the Group actively expanded the scope 
of credit transaction products, including A-share financing business and credit derivatives business under the 
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect schemes, as well as credit transaction 
business related to fixed income products, in order to provide better services to high-net-worth customers by 
improving product capabilities.

Corporate Finance
The revenue generated from the Group’s corporate finance business during the Review Period amounted to 
approximately HK$8.8 million (2020: HK$22.9 million).

The Group’s corporate finance business includes sponsor services, underwriting & placement services, financial 
advisory services and financing arrangement services to corporate clients in Hong Kong. During the Review Period, 
the Group’s corporate finance business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$8.8 million (2020: HK$22.9 million), 
representing a decrease of HK$14.1 million or approximately 62% mainly due to the decreased volume of listing 
sponsorship and underlying underwriting & placement services during the Review Period. In terms of sponsor and 
underlying underwriting & placement services, Southwest Securities (HK) Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, had no listing projects completed during the Review Period, but had three projects whose listing 
applications have been submitted to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2021 and are still being 
processed. These projects are expected to be launched within 2022.

Given that the global economy still remained heavily dragged down by the variants of COVID-19 pandemic in 2021, 
and Hong Kong and the mainland have also been unable to resume quarantine-free travel, substantial uncertainties 
will continue in the small to mid-sized IPO market. In addition to continuing to advance existing and pursuing new 
IPO projects, we have also been expanding our businesses. During the Review Period, we completed four USD 
bonds placement projects, three stock placement projects and acted as financial advisor for a privatization project.

The Group will play its role as usual and further strengthen the cross-border collaboration with Southwest Securities 
Co., Ltd., its parent company, in an effort to provide various types of advisory services and financial services for high-
quality domestic enterprises when they enter the Hong Kong capital market.
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Asset Management
During the Review Period, the Group’s asset management business recorded no revenue (2020: HK$Nil).

The Group’s asset management business line mainly provides services including actively managed private equity 
funds, investment advisory and discretionary account management services. At the same time, it provides the design 
of cross-border asset management products.

During the year under review, the Group’s asset management business line enhanced its business positioning, 
actively explored differentiated and characteristic development paths, and comprehensively promoted layout 
optimization and transformation of business model. During the year, the asset management business line added 
a number of fixed-income fund products, and scaled up the assets under management of SWSI by introducing 
international and domestic investors.

The total net asset value of the investment portfolio of the Group’s fund SP6, which is managed by the Company’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Southwest Securities (HK) Asset Management Limited, has been steadily increasing since 
its inception, with a cumulative rate of return of 27% as at 31 December 2021. Annual return of the investment 
portfolio of the SP6 exceeded 14% in 2021, during which period the Hang Seng Index fell by 18%, so that the fund 
continued to outperform the market. In view of the volatile market conditions, the fund has gradually added fixed 
income investments in the first half of the year to smooth out the changes in net asset value and avoid its significant 
decreases. Investments in stock and bond both achieved satisfactory returns and were less adversely affected by the 
market decline. The Group established two new funds with focus on fixed income in December. In the second half of 
the year, an institutional investor was added to the investment portfolio of the fund SP6, which is an internationally 
renowned investment bank, and it is hoped that further cooperation in fund sales will be carried out in the future. 
Our business team is also actively exploring sales collaboration model with distributors and seek more potential 
investors so as to scale up its assets under management. Leveraging on its accumulated experience and solid track 
record, it is expected that the Group will achieve better fund performance and attract more high-quality investors in 
the next year to diversify the investor base of the funds.

Proprietary Trading
The Group’s proprietary trading business recorded net gains of approximately HK$108.1 million (2020: net gains of 
HK$200.6 million) during the Review Period.

Affected by the continuous decline of the Hong Kong stock market that year and some hedging measures taken 
to prevent the risk of a fall in US stocks, the overall performance was not satisfactory. However, due to bond 
investment, this business segment still achieved absolute returns that far exceeded the performance of the Hang 
Seng Index for the same year.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group held the following significant investments that were classified as financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss with fair value of 5 per cent or more of the Group’s total assets:

Description of investment
Investment 

costs

Fair value 
as at 

31 December 
2021

Percentage of 
investments 
held in the 

investee 
company 

as at 
31 December 

2021

Size as 
compared to 
the Group’s 
total assets 

as at 
31 December 

2021

Total amount 
of dividends 

received 
for the 

year ended 
31 December 

2021

Realised 
gain or (loss) 

for the 
year ended 

31 December 
2021

Unrealised 
gain or (loss) 

for the 
year ended 

31 December 
2021

(HK$’000) (HK$’000) (%) (%) (HK$’000) (HK$’000) (HK$’000)

Investment in Genertec Universal Medical Group 
Company Limited (stock code: 2666.HK) 84,136 89,214 0.84 5.08 3,981 15,839 2,757

Investment in Caiyun International Investment 
Limited's USD800,000,000 5.5% guaranteed 
bonds due 2022 (ISIN: XS1901086782; stock 
code: 5947.HK) (the  “Guaranteed Bonds") 105,575 111,046 N/A 6.32 N/A 4,941 10,762

Genertec Universal Medical Group Company Limited ("Genertec Universal") is a China-based company engaged 
in healthcare business and mainly operates through two segments: (i) the Finance and Advisory Business segment 
mainly includes direct finance leasing, sale and leaseback, factoring, operating leases and advisory services; and 
(ii) the Hospital Group Business segment mainly includes comprehensive medical services, hospital operation 
management, and import and export trade and domestic trade of medical-related goods. Genertec Universal mainly 
conducts business in China.

Caiyun International Investment Limited ("Caiyun International") was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability. It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd（雲南省康旅
控股集團有限公司）(formerly named as Yunnan Metropolitan Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.（雲南省城
市建設投資集團有限公司）)("Yunnan Group"). The principal activity of Caiyun International is investment holding 
and the principal business activities of Yunnan Group are, among others, (i) urban development, including property 
development, development of exhibition centres, primary land development and development of affordable housing 
and redevelopment of shantytowns; and (ii) urban environment including construction and operation of wastewater 
treatment and water supply facilities, solid waste treatment and medical waste management.

The Group held the investment in Genertec Universal with a medium to long-term investment strategy and held 
the investment in the Guaranteed Bonds issued by Caiyun International with a short to medium-term investment 
strategy.

Other Income and Gains
During the Review Period, the Group’s other income and gains amounted to approximately HK$5.2 million (2020: 
HK$37.1 million).

The decrease in other income and gains during the Review Period was mainly due to the decrease in net exchange 
gains.

Staff Costs
During the Review Period, the Group’s staff costs amounted to approximately HK$50.2 million (2020: HK$97.0 
million).
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The number of staff and fixed costs decreased during the Review Period. As part of the salaries of frontline staff was 
linked to their performance, their salaries decreased in tandem with the decrease in their business performance, thus 
reducing the overall staff costs of the Group. The Group also made flexible adjustments to its staffing in response to 
business growth and resource allocation.

Fee and Commission Expenses
The Group’s fee and commission expenses during the Review Period amounted to approximately HK$11.6 million
(2020: HK$14.8 million).

Fee and commission expenses mainly include commissions paid for brokerage business, proprietary trading business 
and corporate finance business transactions. The decrease in commission expenses was mainly attributable to the 
decrease in trading volume of brokerage business and proprietary trading business.

Finance Costs
The Group’s finance costs during the Review Period amounted to approximately HK$85.7 million (2020: HK$116.1 
million).

The finance costs were mainly interest expenses on bonds payable. In February 2021, the Group issued bonds of 
US$178 million for a term of three years to repay the bonds payable of US$200 million due in mid-April 2021. Due 
to the smaller bonds issuance size in February 2021 and the duplicate interests for the period from February 2021 to 
mid-April 2021, the finance costs decreased year-on-year by approximately HK$30.4 million or 26.2%.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
SWSI will, based on the idea that "development is the foundation and key to solving all problems", establish a more 
open, inclusive and integrated philosophy of continual development by putting its business capabilities and the 
geographical advantage of the Hong Kong market into the background of new era and the environment of "greater 
China", and take on a new look and a new pattern in the new era.

As the overseas securities platform of Chongqing state-owned assets system, SWSI should play an irreplaceable 
role as a state-owned enterprise in Chongqing. In particular, it shall keep a foothold in Hong Kong, such an 
important connection in the "Belt and Road" region, give full play to the resource advantages of Hong Kong as 
an international financial center and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, and effectively connect 
domestic and foreign customers, funds and projects. SWSI will satisfy the international business needs of domestic 
and foreign customers with quality products and services in the international capital market, and actively serve 
domestic and foreign entities, contributing to high-quality economic development.

SWSI will stringently abide by the bottom line of compliance and risk control, and take compliance and risk control 
as the cornerstone of the Company's long-term development. By keeping a foothold in Hong Kong and eyeing 
on the global market, it will create a service philosophy that pursues long-term goals and gives top priority to 
customer interests. SWSI will strengthen the interconnection between the domestic and overseas businesses, with 
asset management business as the critical breakthrough, establish a good brand reputation through the asset 
management business, and accumulate corporate customers, institutional customers and high-net-worth customer 
resources, which in turn will boost investment banking business and brokerage business to a higher level, striving to 
become a boutique global financial institution featuring “investment+investment banking”.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately HK$285.1 million (2020: 
HK$382.2 million), while net current assets amounted to approximately HK$1,582.2 million (2020: HK$261.8 million). 
The current ratio as a ratio of current assets to current liabilities was approximately 11.3 times (2020: 1.2 times). The 
gearing ratio was approximately 629.1% (2020: 546.3%). Gearing ratio represents the ratio of total borrowings to the 
total equity of the Group.

During the Review Period, the Group continued to monitor its capital structure in order to ensure the compliance 
of the capital requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (Cap. 571N of the Laws of 
Hong Kong) for its licensed subsidiaries and to support the development of new business. All licensed corporations 
within the Group complied with their respective liquid capital requirements during the year and up to the date of this 
report.

Banking Facilities and Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no outstanding bank loans (2020: Nil) and had an aggregate banking 
facilities of HK$80.0 million (2020: HK$80.0 million). In the case of certain banking facilities of HK$80.0 million (2020: 
HK$80.0 million), the drawdown is subject to the market value of the marketable securities pledged and the margin 
deposits placed. The bank loans are subject to floating interest rates with reference to the costs of funds of the 
banks. At the end of the year, the Group did not have any assets pledged for the facilities (2020: Nil).

Material Acquisitions, Disposals and Significant Investments
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Business Review – Proprietary 
Trading” of this annual report, during the Review Period, there were no material acquisitions and disposals, nor were 
there any significant investments (2020: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Commitments
During the Review Period, the Group had no material capital commitment (2020: Nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates (2020: Nil).

EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 66 employees (as at 31 December 2020: 77 employees). The 
Group regards its employees as an important asset. We continue to improve our human resources management 
system. We aim to create a good working environment that attracts, identifies and nurtures talent. The Group 
has built up a series of internal employment policies, covering recruitment, promotion, remuneration, welfare and 
benefit, management of the equality and diversity. The Group has established clear policies on its employees’ 
remuneration and a comprehensive performance appraisal system. Discretionary performance bonus is paid by 
making references to market, business results, departmental and individual’s performance. The discretionary 
performance bonus aims to retain and reward talented and experienced employees. The Group offers 
comprehensive employee benefits covering mandatory provident fund scheme, occupational retirement scheme, 
medical and dental insurance, life and accident insurance and diverse paid leaves.

The Group provides various kinds of on-the-job training, external and internal training programs, including financial 
and business knowledge, product and operational management, compliance, risk management and etc.. The 
training programs enrich the employees’ professional knowledge and allow employees to have the latest information 
and technical skills to perform their duties, sustain and enhance their competence.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT
This report discloses the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) management concepts of Southwest 
Securities International Securities Limited (“SWSI” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) 
and its latest ESG performance for the year ended 31 December 2021. Unless indicated otherwise, this report 
covers the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”). For the Group’s corporate 
governance practices, please refer to page 37 to page 48 of the section “Corporate Governance Report” in the 
Group’s 2021 Annual Report.

SCOPE OF REPORTING
In respect of the content, this report complies with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide 
(the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with an index of 
content set forth in the appendix to this report.

Unless specified otherwise, this report covers the Group’s business activities in Hong Kong office, which represent 
its operations in the location where its major source of revenue is derived from. The Group has reported ESG 
performance of its subsidiaries under the Group’s direct management control and will continue to evaluate 
significant ESG aspects of different operations to decide which aspects to include in this report. The Group will 
extend the scope of disclosures when and where applicable.

APPLICATION OF REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: Material ESG topics are identified through stakeholder engagement.
Quantitative: Data in this report are checked and analysed to account for year-on-year changes 

and are presented in a way that allows for comparison with previous performance. 
Calculation method of environmental performance indicators can be found in the 
section “PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY”.

Balance: The report is prepared in a transparent manner in which both positive and 
negative impacts are disclosed.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the data and statistical methods in this report are 
presented in a consistent manner, allowing meaningful comparison over time.

CONTACT US
SWSI welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect 
of this report or the Group’s performance in sustainable development by email at corporate_comm@swsc.hk.

BOARD STATEMENT
The Board takes the responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG related risks and opportunities which are 
identified by the senior management team. As directed by the Board, the senior management team is dedicated 
to leading department managers to manage ESG issues by implementing corresponding initiatives, and to identify 
significant impacts concerning ESG that are generated due to the Group’s operation. The Board will also review 
the progress on the execution of the ESG targets annually which are established based on the Group’s principal 
business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has established appropriate and effective management policies and internal 
control systems for addressing ESG related issues. The Board confirms that the disclosed contents are in compliance 
with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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MATERIALITY
Fulfilling the needs of stakeholders is important to long-term success of the Group. To understand their concerns 
and feedback, we maintain close communication with key stakeholders including but not limited to government and 
regulatory authorities, shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers, as well as the general public.

Based on the assessed significant impacts generated, the Group have identified a list of material topics which are 
denoted in bold below. Validated by the Board, these stakeholders’ feedbacks are gradually incorporated into 
SWSI’s strategic decision-making process.

Stakeholders Issues of Concern Engagement Channels

Government and Regulatory Authorities • Compliance with laws and 
regulations

• Support in economic 
development

• Supervision of compliance with 
local laws and regulations

• Submission of reports and 
taxes paid

Shareholders and Investors • Anti-corruption
• Return on investments
• Corporate governance
• Business compliance

• Financial reports
• Announcements and circulars
• General meetings
• Company website and press 

release

Employees • Training and development
• Employees’ compensation and 

benefits
• Health and safety in working 

environment

• Meetings and conferences
• Training, seminars, briefing 

sessions
• Intranet, emails, hotline, caring 

activities

Customers • Product and service quality
• Protection of customers’ 

information

• Customer service hotline and 
email

• Face-to-face meetings and on-
site visits

• Company website and press 
release

Suppliers • Fair and open procurement
• Win-win cooperation

• Open tendering
• Suppliers’ satisfactory 

assessment
• Face-to-face meetings and on-

site visits

General Public • Social responsibilities • Responses to media enquiries
• Public welfare activities
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ANTI-CORRUPTION
Anti-corruption is a key governance and control aspect for the Group. The Group remains committed to high 
standards of anti-corruption work and system, aiming to steer clear of wrong doings that may harm the transparency 
and openness of company operation. To maintain a fair and ethical business and working environment, the Group 
strictly complies with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Whistleblowing
Employees are expected to discharge their duties with integrity, and to avoid engaging in any activities that involve 
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The Group encourages whistleblowing. Whistle-blowers can report 
verbally or in writing to supervisor or the L&C Department with supporting evidence for the suspected malpractice. 
Whistle-blowers are protected by a confidentiality mechanism from any unfair dismissal or victimisation. Where 
criminality is suspected after consulting the L&C Department, a report is to be made to the relevant regulators or law 
enforcement authorities.

Anti-corruption Training
The Group has collaborated with the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) to provide Anti-money 
Laundering related training to employees. In October 2021, the Group invited Senior Education Officer from ICAC 
to organise a seminar “Professional Ethics – Key to Success” for financial services practitioners, with a total of 32 
participants. In addition, from March to April 2021, the group provided all employees the Anti-money laundering 
Online Test. All new employees were required to complete the online test within the first month of their tenure. 
Training materials from ICAC were also distributed to directors. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not 
aware of any violation of laws and regulations1 that had a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery, 
extortion, fraud and money laundering. There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices.

PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION
The Group is dedicated to protecting customers’ privacy and complying with relevant laws and regulations related 
to the collection and use of customers’ information. Owing to a contractual obligation of confidentiality to clients 
in relation to their information, the Group treats clients’ transaction records and personal information as private and 
confidential, subject to disclosure requirements under relevant laws, rules and regulations.

The Group follows the General Compliance Manual that sets out the specific procedure for handling and protecting 
client data. Information collected is used only for the purpose for which it has been collected. Clients are told in 
advance how their data will be used. Provision of consumer information to a third party without client authorisation 
is strictly prohibited. Clients always have the rights to review and revise their data, and to opt out from any direct 
marketing events. If there are any requests for client information or client’s business, the L&C Department is 
consulted to ensure the appropriateness of disclosure under applicable laws, regulations and policies.

1 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION (Continued)
All employees must strictly enforce the Code of Data Confidentiality. Any violations that constitute a crime are 
subject to sanctions or referral to the judicial authorities. In addition, the Group has established the Information 
System Accident Handling Process, stipulating the responsive actions in the event of an information system accident. 
The Information System Accident Handling Process is as follows:

Identify information system accidents

Report the accident to the department head and director

Analyse incident and implement interim solutions

Investigate the cause and ascertain a long-term solution

Implement long-term solutions and issue accidents reports

Guidelines in the event of loss of confidential data and accidents are listed in the User Terminal and Data Security 
Guidelines. All employees should abide by these guidelines to protect confidential customer data.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
The Group strives to provide high quality products and services to its customers. To understand customers’ 
expectations and demands, we constantly monitor our customer satisfaction levels.

Products and Services Quality
To ensure compliance and high product quality, we have in place internal procedures and manuals such as the 
General Compliance Manual and the Sales Manual for the Brokerage Department. To ensure it provides clear and 
balanced information to its clients, product features, terms and conditions, and any associated risks are clearly 
communicated by the Group’s licensed employees to its clients through emails, telephones (with recording function) 
and relevant documents.

We sign agreements with our clients, clearly acknowledging the terms and conditions along with the associated 
risks. The Group follows the regulators’ guidelines on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Financing of Terrorism 
in performing “Customer Due Diligence” and “Customer Risk Assessment” procedures. This allows the Group to 
understand its clients’ financial background, trading experience and risk tolerance level before providing them with 
suitable products and services.

An online trading system is adopted to support the provision of products and services via the internet. With the real-
time monitoring function, the Group can always monitor the financial status of its clients, so as to provide timely 
suggestions to them. To prevent client loss due to wire-network failures or delays in transactions, we have a system 
with two different internet connections with mutual backup function. The Group also has a backup server on standby 
to prevent the loss of important data. We have set up a comprehensive emergency plan and conduct regular 
emergency drills with relevant departments to increase our preparedness for emergency situations. In addition, a 
maker-and-checker mechanism is used to prevent any misappropriation or unauthorised use of clients’ money and 
assets.

Customer Service
To fulfil the needs of our customers, the Group strive to address customers’ complaints in a timely manner. We 
have in place a Complaint Handling Procedure to manage customer complaints. The Group collects customers’ 
complaints through various channels such as customer service hotline, emails or letters, and all complaints 
are recorded with a customer complaint record form. The Customer Services Department is responsible for 
acknowledging the complaint, identifying the issues, and referring the cases to L&C Department for investigation. A 
formal reply is issued to the client within 30 business days. We Inform the client of any additional steps they can take 
under the regulatory regime, including the right to refer the dispute to the Financial Dispute Resolution Centre. To 
prevent recurrence of similar issues, an investigation report is filed to record the complaint. In case of any significant 
issues, the Group notifies relevant parties in accordance with the rules and regulations of SFC and other relevant 
regulatory units.

To ensure that all complaints are addressed correctly, we follow the Customer Complaint Handling Guidelines 
when dealing with complaints. The definition of complaints, confidentiality of information and the documentation 
procedure are clearly listed, and any violations can result in punishments. During the Reporting Period, the Group 
did not receive any products and service-related complaints.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)
Customer Service (Continued)
The Group complies with the requirements as set out by various regulators such as Hong Kong Exchanges 
and Clearing Limited, the SFC, the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption, the Hong Kong 
Confederation of Insurance Brokers, the Professional Insurance Brokers Association, the Insurance Authority and the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority, as well as applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong relating to 
product responsibility and proper conduct in the financial market. During the Reporting Period, the Group complied 
with all relevant laws and regulations2 relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters 
concerning products and services sold and provided to customers.

OUR PEOPLE
Development and Training
The Group strives to provide diverse training opportunities to its employee to facilitate their growth and 
development. We aim to equip our employees with technical skills and knowledge to fulfil the needs of different job 
duties, enhancing the mutual development of employees and the Group.

In this regard, employees are required to attend internal and external training sessions. The Group has training 
rooms equipped with professional training facilities for organising training programs. To fulfil the Securities and 
Futures Commission’s (“SFC”) Continuous Professional Training (“CPT”) requirement, a minimum of 5 CPT hours 
per calendar year are required for licensed employees for each regulated activity they engage in. We also allow 
employees to apply for training and lessons that could benefit their career development.

During the Reporting Period, our employees received internal training courses related to anti-money laundering 
and anti-terrorist financing, SFC rules and regulations, industry trends, data protection and talent management. Our 
employees also attended external trainings sessions and workshops related to investment, risk management, job 
searching and health, etc. A detailed breakdown of the average training hours completed by each employee during 
the Reporting Period is as follows:

By gender Male Female

Breakdown for employees trained 61% 39%
Percentage of employees trained 56% 52%
The average training hours completed per employee 1.1hours 1.0 hour

By employee category General staff
Middle 

management
Senior 

management

Breakdown for employees trained 72% 20% 8%
Percentage of employees trained 68% 30% 60%
The average training hours completed per employee 1.2 hours 0.8 hour 1.7 hours

2 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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OUR PEOPLE (Continued)
Employee Profile
As at 31 December 2021, all 66 employees are located in Hong Kong. Below is the employee breakdown by gender, 
age group, and employment type.

During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate was 57.6%, and the new hire rate 39.4%. Distribution of 
the employee turnover and new hires is presented in the graphs below:
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OUR PEOPLE (Continued)
Employment and Labour Practices
Adhering to a people-oriented approach, the Group values its employees as they are the most valuable asset, 
striving to protect employees’ rights, create a healthy and harmonious working environment, as well as provide 
opportunities for career development.

To enhance its labour management, the Group has in place a series of human resources policies. The Staff Handbook 
covers employment-related approach of the Group, including code of conduct, employee instructions, remuneration 
system, welfare system, etc. All employee-related policies, regulations and systems are made available to new 
employees. he Group’s Human Resources Department regularly reviews and updates relevant policies in accordance 
with the latest laws and regulations.

To protect our employees, we adhere to laws and regulations related to prevention of child or forced labour. We 
check candidates’ identity documents to prevent the employment of underaged persons, and employment is 
terminated once an instance of child or forced labour is discovered. The Group’s Human Resources Department is 
responsible for monitoring and ensuring compliance with the latest relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with employment-related 
laws and regulations3 that would have a significant impact on the Group. Nor did the Group notice any incidents 
relating to the use of child or forced labour.

Compensation and Benefits
Based on the principle of fairness, competitiveness, incentives, reasonableness, and legality, the Group has 
established a fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration system for employees. We offer competitive 
remuneration and benefits based on the individuals’ past working performance, professional qualification and 
experiences. We ensure competitiveness by taking market benchmarks as reference when formulating remuneration 
packages. In order to motivate and reward existing employees, the Group conducts regular salary reviews according 
to the overall market environment, inflation, profitability of the Group and employees’ working performance.

Working hours and holidays for employees are in line with local employment laws and the employment contracts 
with employees. To promote a family-friendly working environment, the Group not only provides the statutory 
holidays and paid annual leave stipulated by the employment laws of Hong Kong Government, but also provides 
different types of paid leaves, including but not limited to birthday leaves, marriage leaves and exam leaves. The 
Group also provides a series of benefits including medical and dental insurance, life insurance to employees.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
Attracting and retaining talents is crucial to the Group’s development. Adhering to the “Openness, Fairness, 
Transparency, Standardisation” principles, we adopt a set of transparent and clear procedures to conduct 
recruitment activities. During the recruitment process, the Group standardises the procedures and principles, and 
recruits the right employees according to their experience and qualifications.

To protect the interests of both employees and the Group, we have in place clear procedures on staff promotion, 
transfer and demotion, and regulated departure process. Any employment, promotion or dismissal is based on 
legitimate grounds, and we prohibit any kind of illicit or illegitimate dismissals.

3 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.
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OUR PEOPLE (Continued)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Equal Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude to any forms of discrimination in its 
employment decisions and in workplace. To ensure fair employment, training and promotion opportunities, dismissal 
and retirement policies are not affected by age, sex, marital status, pregnancy, family status, disability, race, colour, 
descent, national or ethnic origins, nationality, religion or any other non-job-related elements in all business units of 
the Group.

Discrimination on the basis of sex, nationality, family status and religion is prohibited in the employee Code of 
Conduct. Employees can report to the Human Resources Department if they have noticed any potential violations. 
The Human Resources Department ensures strict compliance with local and corporate regulations on assessing, 
dealing with, recording and taking disciplinary actions on such events.

Employee Relations and Communications
The Group strives to provide and maintain a barrier-free employer-employee relationship. Employees are 
encouraged to maintain regular communication with the management and their colleagues through the office 
automation system, emails, training, website and meetings. If employees have any complaints, they can appeal to 
board members, managers and the Human Resources Department. We examine and solve every case seriously. To 
facilitate employee engagement, we encourage employees to actively participate in team building activities.

Occupational Health and Safety
Due to its office-based operation nature, the Group has have limited risks related to occupational health and safety. 
Nevertheless, we aim to create a healthy, safe and comfortable working environment and to eliminate all kinds of 
potential health and safety hazards. In this regard, we encourage employees to maintain physical health during work, 
for example not to use computer screens continuously, and to perform simple relaxation exercises. If there are any 
injuries and fatalities at work, compensation is paid in accordance with relevant laws.

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have adopted various measures to prevent the spread of 
diseases, including but not limited to:

• Monitoring daily reports and track the activity of employees over a 14-day period;

• Providing vaccination leaves to employees;

• Arranging employees to work from home;

• Encouraging employees to replace surgical masks and clean hands with hand sanitiser before entering office; 
and

• Encouraging employees to organise video conferences or other forms of remote communication instead of 
face-to-face meetings.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of work-related injuries. The Group did not record any case 
regarding work-related fatalities over the past 3 years including the Reporting Period. In addition, no material non-
compliance of laws and regulations relevant to health and safety of employees were found.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management
The Group is committed to maintaining a close relationship with its suppliers, including but not limited to insurance 
companies, custodian banks, overseas exchange participants and fund houses. During the year, the Group has 
worked and engaged with 37 suppliers, with 35 suppliers located in Hong Kong and 2 suppliers in Mainland.

The Group highly emphasises the integrity of its suppliers. The Group’s procurement processes are conducted in 
an open, fair and impartial basis, forbidding discrimination against any particular supplier and corrupt practices. 
Employees and any party related to the relevant suppliers are forbidden to take part in the subject procurement.

The Group has established a stringent and standardised procurement system and a systematic selection process 
for suppliers. Requiring suppliers to have relevant environmental and social risk control management, we assess 
suppliers according to comprehensive criteria, including but not limited to the supplier’s reputation, track record, 
expertise, capacity credibility, business stability and product quality. Approved suppliers are typically certified by 
local regulators and authorities.

We give preference to suppliers that are environmentally and socially sustainable, financially stable and legally 
responsible according to local laws. To monitor the quality of our suppliers, we conduct regular evaluation of our 
suppliers, checking whether the suppliers have been reprimanded or punished by local regulatory authorities, and 
whether suppliers comply with relevant laws and regulations and other required standards in terms of health and 
safety and the prevention of forced labour and child labour.

To maintain close relationship with its suppliers and ensure that they comply with local laws and regulations, the 
Group organises regular meetings with its suppliers for sharing market information and product updates and is 
quickly informed of the suppliers’ situation through the internet, phone calls, and other communication means.

Advertising, Labelling and Sales
As a responsible financial services provider, the Group ensures advertisements do not give investors any impression 
of guaranteed profits. Information provided to clients should be complete, true, accurate, clear, and in compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations. In this regard, we require our marketing staff to obtain written approval from 
the relevant department head and from the Legal and Compliance (“L&C”) Department before publishing any 
advertisement or sales literature. This ensures that no advertisements contain false, misleading and deceptive 
statements, commitments and forecasts.

In addition, the Group has fairly strict specifications to monitor the behaviour of all staff and prohibits high-
pressure sales tactics to induce customer trading, so as to prevent customers from making investment decisions 
under pressure or in haste. The Group also gives sufficient time to customers to understand the relevant materials, 
make careful considerations and seek independent third-party advice, if necessary, before making any investment 
decisions.

Intellectual Property Rights
The Group highly respects intellectual property (IP) rights of others as well as its own. Our approach in protecting 
IP rights is clearly listed in the User Terminal and Data Security Guidelines. The Group obtains proper license for 
software and information the Group uses in its business operations. Any duplication or downloading of information, 
software and images from the internet must be approved by relevant departments. Copying of software that does 
not comply with the vendor's permissions is strictly prohibited, and employees are prohibited from installing any 
unauthorised software on the computer or connect to any unauthorised hardware or device on the computer device.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)
Community Investment
The Group collaborates with different non-governmental organizations and charity organizations to respond to 
social needs. The Group has been recognised as a “Heart to Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of 
Youth Groups since 2009 and awarded the Caring Company Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service in 
recognition of the Group’s continuous contribution to the community. During the year, a total of HKD$6,000 was 
donated in support of community projects.

OUR ENVIRONMENT
The Group's operations do not involve any direct energy-intensive manufacturing processes. Nonetheless, it makes 
no compromises when it comes to reducing the environmental implications of its operations. Throughout our entire 
business activities, we pay great attention to environmental and ethical considerations such as resource management 
and emissions reduction.

In 2021, the Group continued to keep itself up-to-date on the most recent national and local environmental laws 
and regulations and maintained its commitment to measures that safeguard the environment based on applicable 
laws and regulations. During the year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations4 that have a significant impact on the Group, relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges 
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Climate Change
We are aware of the likelihood that climate change will have an impact on our operations. Typhoons and floods, 
for example, are extreme weather phenomena that might disrupt our daily operations. The Group has developed 
a Climate Policy to manage the risks associated with climate change and has included climate change as one of 
the fundamental factors in enterprise risk management processes and to assess the impact of climate change on its 
operations. The Group reviews its Climate Change Policy on a regular basis to ensure that necessary information and 
resources are available to monitor the impact of climate change on its workers and business activities.

Energy Consumption
The Company consumes electricity in the course of its daily operations. During the year, total energy consumption 
in the form of electricity was approximately 147,222.85 kWh (530 GJ), with total energy intensity of 2,230.65 kWh/
employee.

4 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Climate Change (Continued)
Carbon Emissions
In 2021, total GHG emissions amounted to approximately 103.77 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”), 
of which 0.55 tCO2e were direct emissions (Scope I), attributed to gasoline consumed by our private vehicles. The 
remaining 103.22 tCO2e of indirect carbon emissions (Scope II) were due to purchased electricity. The emission 
intensity was 1.57 tCO2e/employee.

The Group has formulated rules and regulations to achieve the goal of energy conservation and efficiency. Such 
measures are listed below:

Increasing energy efficiency

• Installed energy saving lamps (eg LED and T5 fluorescent tubes)
• Use appliances with energy-saving labels

Maintenance of equipment

• Regular inspection of lighting systems
• Strengthen the maintenance and overhauling of the equipment, keep the electronic equipment 
 in the best condition, and use the electricity efficiently

Reducing unnecessary energy use

• Posting ”Save Electricity, Turn Off Idle Lights” stickers in prominent places to encourage 
 electricity conservation
• Add timer to water dispenser to save energy
• Use air-conditioning cabinets in the computer room to reduce the use of 24-hour air-conditioning
• Install translucent curtains to let in light and keep air conditioners running efficiently
• Lights, air conditioners, computers and other office equipment in office areas, conference rooms 
 and passages should be turned off when they are not needed to avoid wasting electricity
• Employees are not allowed to stay in the office during non-office hours unless it is necessary for 
 their work to avoid wastage of electricity
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Use of Resources
The Group maintains and promotes the notion of resources usage efficiency, assessing the potential environmental 
impact of its commercial operations in real time. The Group fosters a green office and operations environment and 
reduces its environmental effect by adhering to the 4Rs principles of "Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, and Replace."

Water Consumption
The Group’s daily operations do not consume significant volume of water, and therefore the Group’s business 
activities did not generate any material water discharge. The majority of the water supply facilities and drainage 
systems of the Group are provided and managed by the relevant property management company.

Our office's distilled water supply accounts for the majority of our water consumption. In 2021, the Company's total 
water use was 2,022.30 litres, with a water intensity of 30.64 litres/employee.

The Group is dedicated to promoting better utilisation of water resources and conserving water by adopting the 
following practices:

Emissions
Air Emissions
The Group’s gasoline consumption from the use of private vehicles generates approximately 0.003 kg sulphur oxides 
(“SOX”), 3.64 kg nitrogen oxides (“NOX”) and 0.27 kg particulate matters (“PM”). The Group actively implements 
environmental protection measures to reduce GHG emissions by:

In addition to the actions mentioned above, the Group spreads the message of environmental protection to 
employees in order to raise their knowledge. In addition, the office has displayed notifications and posters with 
green information to promote environmental management best practices.

Turn off the engine 
when the vehicle is 

not in use

After the vehicle reaches the specified 
mileage, it is sent to the depot for 

inspection. If there is any malfunction,  
it is repaired immediately

Use unleaded and 
low sulphur fuels as 

required by law

Encourage employees to take 
public transport instead of 

driving to work

Replace substandard 
vehicles

Reduce the number of business trips 
through electronic communication 

methods such as video or multi-party 
voice conferences

Regular vehicle maintenance 
to ensure engine performance 

does not impede efficient  
use of fue

Repair the faucet 
as soon as it starts 
dripping to prevent 
further leaks in the 

water system

Install flow 
controllers for 

faucets to reduce 
water consumption

Post “Water 
 Conservation” stickers 
in prominent places to 

encourage water  
conservation
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Emissions (Continued)
Waste
The Group adheres to waste management principles and aims to properly treat and dispose of all wastes associated 
with its operations. Its waste management techniques are all in accordance with local environmental laws and 
regulations. The majority of non-hazardous waste created by the Group's commercial activities is paper and other 
solid trash. Following collection and separation, such wastes are collected and processed centrally by a general 
waste collection service provider, whereas recyclables, such as paper, are recycled.

Paper and other solid wastes are the main non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group's business activities, as it is 
primarily an office-based business. Following collection and sorting, such wastes are collected and handled by a centralised 
general garbage collection service provider, while recyclables, such as paper, are recycled. Throughout the year, 1.30 
tonnes of paper was consumed, with 1.08 tonnes being recycled. 0.01 tonnes/employee was the waste intensity.

The Group does not generate any hazardous waste in the course of its operations. To reduce solid waste, the Group 
encourages employees to recycle office paper and toner cartridges, as well as reuse office stationery. The Group 
reduces paper consumption through the following initiatives:

The Group places labels around the office to advise employees to use less paper and provides associated workplace 
facilities to encourage employees to separate waste at the source and recycle waste materials, with the goal of 
meeting waste reduction, reusability, and recycling targets in its operations.
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Use FSC or PEFC 
paper to reduce 

environmental damage

Set the printer's 
default setting to print 

on both sides

Use of office automation 
systems and e-mail for internal 

documentation

Use the back of an old document for 
printing or as scratch paper

Collect used paper 
for recycling

Preview documents before 
printing, adjust page layout 

or margins

Use access cards to record each 
employee's paper usage for  

printing or copying

Announcements to all employees 

about available print volumes, 

prompting them to think  

before printing

Encourage employees to reduce 

the use of multifunction printers and 

copiers to reduce the number of toner 

cartridges ordered
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
The Environment and Natural Resources
The Company's business has no significant impact on the environment. We regularly review our environmental policy 
and consider other environmental protection measures and practices in the Group's business operations to identify 
opportunities for any enhancement environmental sustainability.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Section/Remarks

Product Responsibility • Securities and Futures Ordinance PRODUCT 
RESPONSIBILITY• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

• Companies Ordinance
• Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist 

Financing Ordinance
• Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance
• Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance
• United Nations (Anti-terrorism Measures) 

Ordinance
• United Nations Sanctions Ordinance
• Weapons of Mass Destruction (Control of Provision 

of Services) Ordinance
• Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
• Insurance Ordinance
• Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance

Anti-corruption • Prevention of Bribery Ordinance ANTI-CORRUPTION

Employment • Employment Ordinance OUR PEOPLE
• Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
• Minimum Wage Ordinance
• Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
• Disability Discrimination Ordinance
• Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
• Race Discrimination Ordinance
• Sex Discrimination Ordinance

Occupational Health and 
Safety

• The Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance Occupational Health and 
Safety• Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

Environment • Air Pollution Control Ordinance OUR ENVIRONMENT
• Waste Disposal Ordinance
• Product Eco-responsibility Ordinance of Hong 

Kong
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PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY

2021 2020

Environment Total Resources Consumption (kWh) 147,222.85 160,361.90
Electricity (kWh) 145,378 153,124
Diesels (Litres) 208.38 746.84

Greenhouse Gases Emissions
Total GHG emissions (tCO2e) 103.77 126.46

Scope 1 (tCO2e) 0.55 1.99
Scope 2 (tCO2e) 103.22 124.03

Air Emissions5

Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.003 –
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 3.64 –
Particulate matters (PM) (kg) 0.27 –

Waste
Hazardous waste (tonnes) – –
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) 0.70 0.57

Water (distilled water) (Litres) 2,022.30 –

Workforce Demographics Total Headcount 66 77
By Geographical Distribution

Hong Kong (Headquarters) 66 77
Others 0 0

By Age Group
<30 11 15
31-40 27 34
41-50 20 21
>51 8 7

By Gender
Male 39 44
Female 27 33

By Employment Type
Full-time 66 77
Part-time 0 0

By Functional Category
General staff 38 –
Middle management staff 23 –
Senior management staff 5 –

Employees’ Turnover Rate 57.6% –
By Age Group

<30 136.4% –
31-40 55.6% –
41-50 30.0% –
>51 25.0% –

By Gender
Male 53.9% –
Female 63.0% –

By Geographical Region
Hong Kong (Headquarters) 57.6% –
Others 0% –

Employees’ New Hire Rate
By Age Group

<30 118.2% –
31-40 29.6% –
41-50 25.0% –
>51 0% –

By Gender
Male 38.5% –
Female 40.7% –

By Geographical Region
Hong Kong (Headquarters) 39.4% –
Others 0% –

5 Air emissions are calculated based on fuel consumption of company vehicles
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2021 2020

Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety Performance
Work-related accidents 0 0
Lost days due to work injury 0 0
Work-related fatalities 0 0

Employee Training Performance Percentage of Employees Trained
By Gender

Male 56% 78%
Female 52% 68%

By Functional Category
General staff 68% 74%
Middle management staff 30% 71%
Senior management staff 60% 75%

Average Training Hours
By Gender

Male 1.1 3.6
Female 1.0 3.9

By Functional Category
General staff 1.2 3.2
Middle management staff 0.8 4.7
Senior management staff 1.7 10

Supply Chain Management Total Number of Suppliers 37 12
By Geographical Regions

Hong Kong 35 12
Mainland 2 0
Others 0 0

Community Donation (HKD) 6,000 4,000

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY (Continued)
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ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

A. Environmental
Aspect A1：Emissions
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges 
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and 
non-hazardous waste.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and the respective emissions data. Air Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Carbon Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 
per facility).

Waste;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility).

Waste;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

OUR ENVIRONMENT;
Carbon Emissions

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set 
and steps taken to achieve them.

Waste;
OUR ENVIRONMENT;
Waste

Due to our office-based operation, the carbon emissions generated is mainly from purchased electricity, and our impact to the 
environment is relatively limited. Nevertheless, we will remain vigilant in terms of tackling climate change.
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Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect A2：Use of Resources
General Disclosure Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, 

water and other raw materials.
Use of Resources

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Energy Consumption;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

Water Consumption;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

OUR ENVIRONMENT;
Energy Consumption

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water 
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

OUR ENVIRONMENT;
Water Consumption

KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products 
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit 
produced.

The Group does not require the 
use of significant amounts of 
packaging materials.

Aspect A3：The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on 

the environment and natural resources.
The Environment and  
Natural Resources

KPI A3.1 Description of significant impacts of activities on the 
environment and natural resources and the actions taken 
to manage them.

The Environment and 
Natural Resources

Aspect A4：Climate Change
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 

climate-related issues which have impacted, and those 
which may impact, the issuer.

Climate Change

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, 
and the actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change

ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX (Continued)
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Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

B. Social
Aspect B1: Employment
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and 
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and 
welfare

Employment and Labour 
Practices

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, 
full-or part-time), age group and geographical region.

Employee Profile;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 
geographical region.

Employee Profile;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and 
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

Occupational Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in 
each of the past three years including the reporting year.

Occupational Health and Safety;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and Safety;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

Occupational Health and Safety

ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX (Continued)
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Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills 

for discharging duties at work. Description of training 
activities.

Development and Training

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 
management).

Development and Training;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 
gender and employee category.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to prevention of child and forced labour.

Employment and Labour 
Practices

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices 
to avoid child and forced labour.

Employment and Labour 
Practices

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices 
when discovered.

Employment and Labour 
Practices

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 

supply chain
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 
number of suppliers where the practices are being 
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX (Continued)
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Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and 
privacy matters relating to products and services provided 
and methods of redress

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 
recalls for safety and health reasons.

Due to our business nature, our 
products do not cause any safety 
and health issues

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 
received and how they are dealt with.

Customer Service

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 
protecting intellectual property rights.

Intellectual Property Rights

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 
procedures.

Products and Services Quality

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

PROTECTION OF CUSTOMER 
INFORMATION

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure Information on:

a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 
practices brought against the issuer or its employees 
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the 
cases.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing 
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 
directors and staff.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX (Continued)



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

36 Southwest Securities International Securities Limited　Annual Report 2021 

Subject areas, aspects, 
general disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the 

needs of the communities where the issuer operates 
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the 
communities’ interests.

Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community Investment

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 
area.

Community Investment;
PERFORMANCE DATA 
SUMMARY

ESG REPORT CONTENT INDEX (Continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance to protect and 
enhance the benefits of shareholders. The Board and senior management of the Company recognizes their 
responsibility to maintain the interests of the shareholders and to enhance the value of such interests. The Board 
also believes a deliberate policy of corporate governance can facilitate a company in rapid growth under a healthy 
governance structure and strengthen the confidence of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and 
investors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), the Company has applied the principles of, and has 
complied with, all the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in 
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules during the Year. The Company has made specific enquiry with 
each Director and, based on such enquiry, confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standard 
and code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions, set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. 
Employees and consultants who are privy to inside information are required to follow the Model Code.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE
During the Year, the Company arranged for appropriate cover on Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy to 
indemnify the Directors and officers for liabilities arising from the corporate activities. The coverage and the amount 
insured under such policy are reviewed annually by the Company. No legal actions were made against any of the 
Directors in relation to their duties performed for the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board Composition
As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprised two executive directors, Mr. WU Jian (Chairman) and Dr. ZHAO 
Mingxun; and three independent non-executive directors, Mr. MENG Gaoyuan, Dr. GUAN Wenwei and Mr. LIANG 
Jilin. As result of the changes to the Board as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2022, 
the Board comprises three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors, namely:

Executive Directors: Mr. WU Jian (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Hongwei (appointed 12 April 2022)
Mr. HUANG Changsheng (appointed 12 April 2022)
Dr. ZHAO Mingxun (resigned on 12 April 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors: Mr. MENG Gaoyuan
Dr. GUAN Wenwei
Mr. LIANG Jilin
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Roles and Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall business strategy, management planning and control of 
the Company. The management is responsible for day-to-day management of the Group. The Directors have 
accumulated sufficient and valuable experience to carry out their duties in an efficient and effective manner. Other 
than the statutory duties imposed on each of them, all of the Directors have exercised due care in monitoring 
the corporate matters of the Company and have provided grave concern, sufficient time and attention to all the 
significant issues and affairs of the Group.

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure 
that he/she has adequate understanding of the businesses and operations of the Group. The Directors are also kept 
informed on a timely basis of their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules, as well as other relevant 
statutory or regulatory requirements.

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Directors are set out under the section “BIOGRAPHIES OF 
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” in this report.

Directors were appointed for a specific term where all Directors were appointed for a period of 3 years. At least one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not 
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire every 
year will be those who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.

The Board has established a set of board diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board 
aiming at enhancing Board effectiveness and corporate governance as well as achieving our business objectives and 
sustainable development. Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited 
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length 
of service. The current Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement of the 
business of the Company.

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the Group and overseeing the management of 
the business, with the ultimate goal of maximizing the Shareholders’ value and long-term success of the Company 
while the day-to-day management of business and operations are delegated to the chief executive officer, respective 
Board committees and senior management of the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there are no relationships among the Board members, including financial, 
business, family or other material/relevant relationships.

Independent Non-executive Directors
During the Year, the Board has complied with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in having 3 
independent non-executive Directors (representing one-third of the Board) from time to time. The independent 
non-executive Directors, all of whom are independent of the management of the Group’s businesses, are highly 
experienced professionals with substantial experience in areas such as legal, accounting or financial management.

The Company has received annual written confirmation from each independent non-executive Director of his 
independence to the Group pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent 
non-executive Directors were acting independently throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors’ Continuing Professional Development
Directors’ training is an ongoing process. All Directors are encouraged to attend the seminars and courses on 
relevant topics when counting towards continuous professional development training.

Pursuant to C.1.4 of the CG Code, Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed 
and relevant. According to the records maintained by the Company, during the Year, all Directors participated 
in continuous professional development through reading materials on regulatory updates, director’s duties and 
responsibilities and corporate governance matters and/or attending relevant seminars or courses provided by 
professional bodies. All Directors have provided the Company with a record of the relevant training undertaken 
during the Year as summarized below:

Directors Attending Seminar Reading Materials

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wu Jian (Chairman) ✓ ✓

Mr. ZHANG Hongwei2 ✗ ✗

Mr. HUANG Changsheng3 ✗ ✗

Dr. ZHAO Mingxun1 ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. MENG Gaoyuan ✓ ✓

Dr. GUAN Wenwei ✓ ✓

Mr. LIANG Jilin ✓ ✓

Notes:
1. resigned on 12 April 2022
2. appointed on 12 April 2022
3. appointed on 12 April 2022

Board meetings
The Board meets regularly for discussing and determining the strategies of the Group, setting directions and 
monitoring the performance of the Group. Notice of not less than 14 days are given to all Directors in convening all 
regular meetings. Each Director can access to the advices and services of the company secretary and is invited to 
include any matters in the agenda of the regular meetings. Agendas and materials for discussion in the meetings are 
circulated to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the date of the meetings.

Any Directors, who have declared to have a conflict of interest in the proposed transactions or issues to be 
discussed, would not be counted in the quorum of the meeting and would abstain from voting on the relevant 
resolution.

Senior management may be invited to attend the meetings to make presentations and answer the Board’s enquiries. 
All draft minutes of each meeting are circulated to all Directors for comment within reasonable time after the 
meeting has been held.

During the Year, the Board held 4 physical meetings and the attendance of each Director is listed under the heading 
“ATTENDANCE SUMMARY” below on a named basis.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The position of the Chairman (“Chairman”) of the Company is held by Mr. WU Jian (“Mr. WU”). Prior to 29 March 
2021, the position of Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) was held by Mr. PU Rui (“Mr. PU”). Mr. PU resigned as an 
executive director and the CEO of the Company with effect from 29 March 2021 in order to focus on his other 
personal development, and Dr. ZHAO Mingxun (“Dr. ZHAO”) has temporarily performed the duties of CEO since 
29 March 2021 until the Company identifies and selects a suitable candidate for the position of CEO. The roles of 
Chairman and CEO are segregated and there are no relationships between Mr. WU and Dr. ZHAO. The Chairman 
provides leadership for the Board and ensures that there is clear division of responsibilities at the board level. The 
CEO is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management of the Company, supervising the businesses of the 
Group and ensuring that the Board committees work smoothly and effectively.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company currently has three committees, namely the audit committee, remuneration committee and 
nomination committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All committees have been 
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their respective duties and all committee members may seek external 
professional advices, if necessary, at the costs of the Group.

Audit Committee
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) currently comprises all 3 independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. MENG Gaoyuan, who acts as the chairman, Dr. GUAN Wenwei and Mr. LIANG Jilin.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, monitoring the integrity of financial statements and the 
accounting policies and practices, making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of external auditor, reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control 
systems. The Audit Committee meets four times a year to discuss and review the financial information, the risk 
management and internal control systems and relevant matters. The proceedings of the Audit Committee meetings 
are the same as the Board meetings. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently available on the 
HKEXnews website and the Company’s website.

During the Year, the Audit Committee performed duties, including the review of (i) the audit planning memoranda; 
(ii) the results for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and the interim period for the six months ended 
30 June 2021; (iii) financial reporting and compliance procedures; (iv) the compliance and internal audit reports; 
and (v) the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system and internal audit function, and making 
recommendations to the Board on reappointment of external auditor and its remuneration.

The Company’s annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the Year and the attendance of each member is listed under the 
heading “ATTENDANCE SUMMARY” below on a named basis.

Nomination Committee
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) currently consists of 4 members, 
including an executive Director, namely Mr. ZHANG Hongwei, appointed on 12 April 2022, and all 3 independent 
non– executive Directors, namely Mr. MENG Gaoyuan, Dr. GUAN Wenwei and Mr. LIANG Jilin, who acts as the 
chairman.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include, inter alia, reviewing the structure, size and composition 
of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, assessing the independence of 
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal 
of Directors. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently available on the HKEXnews website 
and the Company’s website.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)
During the Year, the Nomination Committee performed the duties including (i) to review the structure, size 
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) to assess the independence 
of independent non-executive Directors; (iii) to formulate and review the nomination policy and to make 
recommendation to the Board for the approval of adoption; and (iv) to identify individual suitably qualified to 
become Board member based on the nomination policy of the Company and took into account the board diversity 
policy of the Company and to make recommendation to the Board on such appointment.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the Year and the attendance of each member is listed under the 
heading “ATTENDANCE SUMMARY” below on a named basis.

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) currently comprises all 3 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. GUAN Wenwei, who acts as the chairman, Mr. MENG Gaoyuan and 
Mr. LIANG Jilin and an executive Director, namely Mr. ZHANG Hongwei, appointed on 12 April 2022.

The responsibilities and authorities of the Remuneration Committee are clearly stated in its terms of reference, 
including but not limited to recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all 
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management and review and approval of the compensation 
packages of the executive Directors and the senior management and make recommendations to the Board on 
the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The Board together with the Remuneration Committee monitor the 
performance of the executive Directors and the senior management. Such division of responsibilities ensures a 
balance of power. The Remuneration Committee shall meet at any time as and when necessary. Terms of reference of 
the Remuneration Committee is currently available on the HKEXnews website and the Company’s website.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee performed duties including, reviewing and discussing the Company’s 
remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior management, reviewing and approving the 
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management and making recommendations to the Board. No 
director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the Year and the attendance of each member is listed under 
the heading “ATTENDANCE SUMMARY” below on a named basis.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are 
determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the 
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually. Details of the 
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 7 of the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors has waived any emoluments and no emolument were paid by the Group to any Director as an 
inducement to join at upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for the Year.
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SUMMARY OF THE NOMINATION POLICY
The Company has adopted the nomination policy which sets out the principles and guidelines which the Nomination 
Committee shall follow in respect of nomination, selection and appointment (including the re-election thereof) of a 
director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall assess the integrity, suitability and ability of a candidate proposed to become 
a Director, having due regard to the board diversity policy of the Company and other factors as the Nomination 
Committee considers appropriate. For a candidate proposed to become an independent non-executive Director, the 
Nomination Committee shall assess the independence of the candidate, to which the independent criteria under the 
Listing Rules shall be observed.

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendation to the Board for appointment of a candidate to become a 
Director. The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters relating to the selection and appointment of 
a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall from time to time review the nomination policy, as appropriate, to ensure the 
effectiveness of such policy and shall make recommendation of any revision to the Board.

SUMMARY OF THE BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the objectives and 
the factors to be considered for achieving Board diversity. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of 
having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the 
Company’s competitive advantage and corporate governance.

Measurable Objective
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to gender, age, 
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The 
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The 
Board’s composition will be disclosed in the Company’s annual report. The Nomination Committee will use its best 
endeavours to identify and recommend at least one suitable female candidate to the Board for its consideration on 
appointment of a Director by 31 December 2024.

Monitoring and reporting
The Nomination Committee will review the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives and monitor the 
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually. During the year under review, the Nomination Committee 
has reviewed the Board’s composition (including the gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) which has been disclosed on pages 49 to 51 in this 
annual report and considered the current Board’s composition is appropriate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is responsible for, amongst other things, 
the development and review of the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and monitoring 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the 
CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report included as part of the annual report.

The Corporate Governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its corporate governance 
function.
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ATTENDANCE SUMMARY
The following table shows the attendance of each individual member of the Board and the Board committees at the 
regular Board meetings, the respective Board committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on 25 June 
2021 (the “2021 AGM”) during the Year:

Attendance/Number of meetings held during the Year

Name of members of the Board/
the Board Committees

Board 
meeting

Audit 
Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

meeting
2021 
AGM

Executive Directors:
Mr. WU Jian (Chairman) 4/4 N/A 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Hongwei2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. HUANG Changsheng3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dr. ZHAO Mingxun1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. MENG Gaoyuan 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Dr. GUAN Wenwei 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. LIANG Jilin 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1

Notes:
1. resigned on 12 April 2022
2. appointed on 12 April 2022
3. appointed on 12 April 2022

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors 
without the presence of other Director during the Year.

The Board members are provided with appropriate and sufficient information in a timely manner to keep abreast 
of the Group’s latest developments. All businesses transacted at board meetings are properly documented and 
recorded.

All resolutions put forward at general meeting of the Company were voted by way of poll and the announcement on 
the poll vote results was made by the Company, after the general meeting was held, in the manner prescribed under 
Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board acknowledges the responsibility for preparing the accounts which gives a true and fair view, appropriate 
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently and judgment and estimates are made prudently and 
reasonably on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor in relation to the financial reporting are set out 
under the section “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” in this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY
Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements and believe 
that these statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs and of its results. The Board has 
adopted appropriate accounting policies and made proper estimates for the preparation of financial statements. 
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief and having made all reasonable 
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cause significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board therefore continues to adopt the 
going concern approach in preparing the financial statements for the financial year of 2021.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young resigned as auditor on 7 July 2021 and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”) was appointed 
as auditor of the Company at the special general meeting on 28 July 2021. SHINEWING is subject to reappointment 
as independent auditor of the Group at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. It is the auditor’s 
responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements and to report 
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditor of the Company, 
SHINEWING and reviewing any non-audit services performed by the SHINEWING. The remunerations paid to the 
external auditors for the provision of services during the Year are set out as follows:

HK$’000

Audit services 1,329
Non-audit services 100

The non-audit services during the Year provided by the external auditors included interim review and review of 
policies and procedures.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The legal & compliance department (“L&C”) of the Group is responsible for setting and monitoring internal control 
systems, policies and procedures to ensure the Group’s compliance with the relevant and latest laws, rules and 
regulations. L&C also manages against material legal and compliance risks associated with the business activities of 
the Group.

The Group’s risk management mechanism is also embodied by the three lines of defence for risk management. All 
executing units serve as the main responsible parties for their respective business risks and are taken as the front 
line and also the first line of defence for risk management. L&C and the Group’s risk control department (“RCM”) 
together constitute the second line of defence for risk management. Different from the business supporting units, 
L&C and RCM perform their management functions independently of the business units. Charged with the major 
duty of independent oversight of risks, L&C is responsible for managing compliance risks, whereas RCM is tasked 
with overall management of financial risks. The internal audit department instead serves as the third line of defence.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
and has reviewed their effectiveness periodically through the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)
The internal control system has been reviewed on an ongoing basis throughout the Year by the Audit Committee, as 
delegated by the Board, in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance in relation to 
protection of material assets and identification of business risks. The Board is of the view that the system of internal 
control adopted for the Year is sound and is effective to safeguard the interests of the shareholders, customers and 
the Group’s assets.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Pursuant to the audit charter that approved by the Audit Committee and the mission statement stipulates in 
the audit standard manual, the Group’s internal audit department (“IA”) provides independent and reasonable 
assurance that the Group’s governance, risk management and internal control processes as designed and 
implemented by management are adequate and effective. IA reports on the adequacy of system of internal 
controls to the Audit Committee and management. IA adopts a risk-based approach and in accordance with the 
internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee, to conduct independent reviews on areas which is prioritized 
according to an assessment of current and emerging risks, including financial, operational, compliance and 
technology risks. Ad hoc reviews will also be conducted on areas of concern identified by the Audit Committee and 
management when necessary. Results of audit work and the assessment of the overall risk management of areas 
concerned are reported to the Audit Committee and management at least twice a year. IA closely follows up the 
rectifications and ensures that processes are in place for recommendation raised in internal audit reports.

RISK MANAGEMENT
During the Year, the senior management was responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk control. The risk control is implemented to minimize the risks to which the Group is exposed and used 
as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of business.

The senior management is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of the risk control 
to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group.

The senior management monitors the business activities closely and reviews regular risk control reports. Proper 
controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and timely management information.

The procedures of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management
• Identification: Identify risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives. Major 

risks affecting the operation of the Company include market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse change in fair value or movement in cash flows in respect of 
financial instruments, due to changes in market prices, interest rates and exchange rates, which mainly exists in 
the proprietary business and asset management business and other investment-related business of the Group. The 
Company implemented the risk control indicators such as the scale of risk exposure, concentration and limit of loss 
to prevent excess risk taken on investment.

Credit risk refers to the potential loss that may arise from the failure of a debtor or counterparty to meet its 
obligation or commitment to the Group. The Company’s credit exposure mainly relates to financial assets under 
margin financing, fixed income financial assets, securities lending arrangement and securities and futures brokerage 
business. The Company has used risk management system to evaluate and monitor the credit risks for clients on real 
time basis so as to prevent excessive risk concentration that would affect the credit exposure of clients, and identify, 
report and deal with risk of default as early as possible.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
　

46 Southwest Securities International Securities Limited　Annual Report 2021 

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
For risk management (Continued)
Liquidity risk refers to the risk resulting from the failure to make payment, settlement, reimbursement, redemption 
and to meet obligations in connection with financial liabilities due to shortage of funds in the ordinary course of 
business of the Company. In order to manage liquidity risk effectively, the Company has strengthened monitoring 
and management of usage of large amounts of funds in order to achieve centralized fund allocation.

Operational risk refers to the risk of incurring losses resulting from the inadequacy or defect of internal process, 
personnel or systems, or from such external events as natural disaster and fraud. In order to manage operational 
risk effectively, the Company has set up a well-established internal control system and regularly carried out effective 
assessment of internal control and compliance management throughout the Company.

• Evaluation: Risk management is a continuous process carried out at all levels of the Group. After identifying 
related risks, the Company will analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio 
accordingly in a timely manner.

• Management: Mitigation measures and plans are then developed based on the risks evaluated and the 
predetermined risk appetite to manage the risks to an acceptable level. Consider the risk responses, ensure 
effective communication to the Board and ongoing monitor the residual risks.

For internal control:
• Control environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that provide the basis for carrying out 

internal control across the Group.

• Risk assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s 
objectives, forming basis for determining how risks should be managed.

• Control activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management directives to 
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

• Information and communication: Internal and external communication to provide the Group with the 
information needed to carry out on day-to-day controls.

• Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each components of internal control is 
present and functioning.

The aforesaid departments responsible for the internal controls and risk management systems shall report to the 
Board, and the Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s overall risk management and internal 
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Nonetheless, such internal controls and risk management systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the Year, the Board, or through the Audit Committee, conducted review and discussed the risk management 
and internal control with management to ensure that the management has performed its duty to have effective 
systems, and is of the view that the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are effective and 
adequate.
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DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Group has complied with the relevant requirements for disseminating inside information as defined under the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance so as to ensure inside information is promptly identified and escalated. Directors 
and senior management of the Group received relevant trainings to ensure inside information remain confidential 
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is 
efficiently and consistently made.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Yiu Yi Ting, the company secretary of the Company, is a full-time employee of the Company and has confirmed 
that, in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, she took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Group has been devoted to maintain effective communications with the Shareholders and the general public 
with an aim to improving the transparency of the Group and to provide them with channels to appraise the position 
of the Group. During the Year, 2021 AGM was held and the notice of 2021 AGM was given to the Shareholders 
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting. The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen of the audit, 
remuneration and nomination committees, and all the members of the Board and the external auditor were present 
at the 2021 AGM to answer the questions from the Shareholders. Each substantially separate issue was dealt with in 
a separate resolution so that the Shareholders were able to comprehend the matter easily.

Annual and interim reports and any significant events of the Company fall to be disclosed in accordance with the 
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements have been published 
in a timely manner through the websites of the Company and HKEXnews.

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy and will review it on a regular basis to ensure its 
effectiveness. The purpose of this policy is to ensure the Shareholders be provided with prompt and equal access 
to information about the Company (including but not limited to its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, 
material developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable the Shareholders to assess the Company’s 
overall performance, exercise their rights in an informed manner and engage actively with the Company. The 
Shareholders’ communication policy is currently posted on the Company’s website.

DIVIDEND POLICY
During the Year, the Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the principles for the Board to reference 
when it considers a recommendation and/or declaration of dividend.

The Board may propose to recommend to the Shareholders and/or declare dividend after taking into consideration 
of, inter alia, (i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group for the financial year; (ii) the Group’s 
current and expected working capital requirements and future business plan; (iii) general economic conditions, 
business cycle and other factors that the Board reasonably considers may have an impact on the business 
performance of the Group; and (iv) such other factors which the Board may consider appropriate. The declaration 
of dividends or recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations 
including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), 
the applicable laws of Bermuda and the memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye– 
laws”).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Company holds an annual general meeting every year and may hold a general meeting known as a special 
general meeting whenever necessary. Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Shareholders holding 
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company shall at all times have the right, by depositing a written requisition to the Board or the secretary of 
the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such 
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the 
requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner.

Proposals at Shareholders’ meetings can be put forward by the members of the Company holding at the date of 
the submission of the proposals not less than one-tenth (10%) of such of the paid-up capital of the company as 
at the date of the submission carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The submission of 
the proposals must be made within three (3) business days after a notice of the Shareholders’ meeting has been 
served to all registered Shareholders by the Board. The proposals must be written and must state the objects of the 
proposals, and must be signed by the proposers, and mailed and deposited at 40/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan 
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for attention of the company secretary of the Company; and may consist of 
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more proposers. The Company will verify the requisition 
and upon confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will update the resolutions by serving 
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all registered Shareholders, provided that the 
proposers have deposited a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses involved in 
publishing supplementary circular and updating related resolutions. Alternatively, if the requisition has been verified 
as not in order, the proposer will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, no resolution will be updated as 
requested.

The Group values feedback from Shareholders on its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor 
relationships. Shareholders’ enquiries, comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are welcome and 
can be addressed to the company secretary by mail to 40/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, 
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s memorandum of association and bye-laws and these 
documents can be found in the websites of the Company and HKEXnews.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
　

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WU Jian（吳堅）, aged 57, has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company since 27 February 2015, 
the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination committee since 1 November 2016, and a member 
of the remuneration committee of the Company since 25 March 2017. Mr. Wu graduated from Shanxi University of 
Finance and Economics in the PRC. He graduated from MBA Institute of Chongqing University with MBA degree 
in February 2001. Mr. Wu served in China Securities Regulatory Commission Chongqing Office consecutively as 
the deputy commissioner of division of investigation and enforcement department and commissioner of the listed 
company supervision department from 1997 to 2005. Mr. Wu was appointed as the deputy general manager of 重
慶渝富資產經營管理集團有限公司 (Chongqing Yufu Assets Management Group Co., Ltd.*) from December 2005 to 
November 2013 and was responsible for investment management. Mr. Wu was also appointed as the chief executive 
and director of 重慶股權轉讓中心有限責任公司 (Chongqing Share Transfer Center Co., Ltd.*), a subsidiary of 西南
證券股份有限公司 (Southwest Securities Co., Ltd.*) (“SWSC”, SSE stock code: 600369), from October 2013 to April 
2016. Mr. Wu was also appointed as the chairman of the board of 重慶股權轉讓中心有限責任公司 (Chongqing 
Share Transfer Center Co., Ltd.*) from April 2016 to April 2020. Mr. Wu was once appointed as an independent 
director of 西南藥業股份有限公司 (Southwest Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*) and the chairman of the board of 重慶東
源產業投資股份有限公司 (Chong Qing Dong Yuan Industry Investment Co., Ltd.*). Mr. Wu is currently the secretary 
of CPC party committee, the chairman of the board and president of SWSC. He is currently a director of Southwest 
Securities International Investment Limited, the immediate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wu has over 
20 years of experience in investment and securities market.

Mr. ZHANG Hongwei（張宏偉）, aged 58, graduated from Chongqing Industrial School（重慶工業學校）and School 
of Economics and Business Administration, Chongqing University majoring in business administration in 2002. He 
currently serves as the chief risk officer and the general manager of risk control department of Southwest Securities 
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang was the general manager of the Nanping business department of Chongqing Securities Company
（重慶有價證 券公司）and the deputy manager of the securities department of the Nanping branch of Bank of 
Communications from 1993 to 2000, and the general managers of a number of securities business departments 
of Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2005. He served successively as the general manager of brokerage 
business department, the general manager of compliance and risk management department, the general manager 
of legal compliance department, the general manager of compliance department, the chief anti-money laundering 
compliance officer, the general manager of risk control department and the chief risk officer at headquarter of 
Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. from 2005. Mr. Zhang has nearly 30 years of experience in the securities market.

Mr. HUANG Changsheng（黃昌盛）, aged 42, a certificated public accountant and a registered sponsor 
representative in the PRC, has extensive experience in the financial industry. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in 
economics from Chongqing Technology and Business University in June 2001 and a master’s degree in management 
from Chongqing University in June 2005. Mr. Huang successively worked at China Mobile Chongqing Company 
Limited, Guorong Securities Co., Ltd. and Chongqing Share Transfer Center Co., Ltd. from July 2005 to August 
2012. He served as the senior manager, head of business team and deputy general manager of the NEEQ business 
department of Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. successively from September 2012 to August 2019. He became 
the deputy general manager of the first division of the western department of investment banking of Southwest 
Securities Co., Ltd. in September 2019, responsible for leading the department work.

*　translation for reference only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. MENG Gaoyuan（蒙高原）, aged 51, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the 
chairman of audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee since 27 
January 2015. Mr. Meng has been qualified as certificated public accountant in the PRC since 1997. He has also 
been qualified as a certified public valuer and a registered land valuer since 1998 and 2006 respectively. Mr. Meng 
served in 重慶康華會計師事務所（特殊普通合夥）(Chongqing Kanghua Certified Public Accountants LLP*) as, 
respectively, a department senior manager, deputy general manager, the chairman of the board and the chief 
partner since September 1998. Mr. Meng graduated from 江西財經學院 (now known as Jiangxi University of Finance 
and Economics) in the PRC with a bachelor degree majoring in finance, accounting and auditing in July 1994. He 
obtained a master of business administration degree from Chongqing University of Technology. He has abundant 
experience in accounting, audit and finance.

Dr. GUAN Wenwei（關文偉）, aged 53, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman 
of remuneration committee, and a member of each of the audit committee and nomination committee of the 
Company since 19 September 2016, and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company since 14 July 
2020. Dr. Guan graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University with a Bachelor of Laws (LL.B.) Degree in 1991. He obtained 
a master of laws (LL.M.) degree from Peking University in 2001, a master of arts (M.A.) Degree (Asia Pacific Policy 
Studies) and a Ph.D in Law from the University of British Columbia in 2004 and 2009, respectively. Dr. Guan served 
as court clerk, junior judge in the Guangdong Provincial People’s High Court, PRC, sessional lecturer in the faculty 
of law of the University of British Columbia, visiting assistant professor in the school of law of City University of Hong 
Kong during the period from July 1991 to July 2009. He has been an assistant professor in the school of law of City 
University of Hong Kong since July 2009 and was promoted to associate professor since July 2018. He was qualified 
as a lawyer in the PRC since 2000 and has become an arbitrator of South China International Economic and Trade 
Arbitration Commission since 2015.

Mr. LIANG Jilin（梁繼林）, aged 65, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member 
of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company since 
1 July 2020. Mr. Liang acted as the deputy general manager from June 2009 to September 2015 of and the chief 
economist from September 2015 to September 2016 of 中房地產股份有限公司 (now known as 中交地產股份有限
公司 (CCCG Real Estate Corporation Limited*), SZSE stock code: 000736). Mr. Liang consecutively served as the 
deputy general manager, general manager, chairman of the board of directors, branch secretary of Party and legal 
representative of 深圳市中住匯智實業有限公司 (now known as 中交地產產業發展有限公司）from March 1999 to 
October 2016. He was the chairman of the board of directors of 深 圳 市 華 匯 倉 儲 有 限 公 司 from October 2001 
to December 2005. Mr. Liang graduated from 中國人民解放軍陸軍參謀學院 (the Chief of Staff of Army College of 
the Chinese People’s Liberation Army*) with a bachelor’s degree in military science in July 1994, majoring in military 
theory, and obtained the qualification of Senior Schemer of China Scheming Research Institute in February 2005.

*　translation for reference only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LO Wing Shing Steven（盧永成）, is the vice president of the Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of the 
Group. Mr. Lo joined the Group in February 2016. He is currently in charge of the corporate finance department of 
the Group. Mr. Lo has over 15 years of experience in investment banking field and has participated in a number of 
IPO sponsor, corporate finance and financial consulting projects. Mr. Lo graduated with a bachelor of science degree 
in mechanical engineering from the University of British Columbia and obtained a master of business administration 
from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder.

Mr. CHEUNG Hei Choi（張喜財）, is the chief compliance officer and chief risk control officer of the Group. 
Mr. Cheung joined the Group in January 2020 as the co-head of legal and compliance department, and he becomes 
the head of legal and compliance department since the mid-April 2020, the chief compliance officer and chief risk 
control officer of the Group since June 2020. He is currently in charge of the legal & compliance department and risk 
control department of the Group. Mr. Cheung has worked for an international accountancy firm, the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited and a well-known mainland-based securities house over 20 years and is experienced in the 
field of auditing and compliance in the financial services industry. Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in 
accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is also a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. LONG Jieling（龍杰靈）, is the vice president of the Group. Dr. Long joined the Group in November 2021. He 
is currently in charge of the brokerage business department. Dr. Long has extensive experience in the financial 
industry. He served in Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. consecutively as an assistant investment manager, an assistant 
general manager and a deputy general manager in various departments from February 2015 to November 2019. He 
served as an executive director of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited from January 2020 to July 2021. Dr. 
Long graduated from the University of Bristol in June 2010 with a Master of Engineering with First Class Honours, 
and from the University of Cambridge in February 2015 with a Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering. His research 
interests were in the general area of systems engineering, particularly the system modelling and risk management.

Mr. FEI Zheng（費峥）, is the vice president of the Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. 
He joined the Group in 2015, and consecutively served as a president assistant, head of the Human Resources 
Department and head of the Administration Department of the Group. He is currently in charge of the human 
resources department, the administration department, the company secretarial and corporate communications 
department and the information technology department of the Group. Mr. Fei graduated from Chengdu University 
of Information Technology in July 2003 with a bachelor's degree, majoring in communication engineering. Before 
joining the Group, Mr. Fei once served in 東芝家用電器銷售（南海）有限公司 (Toshiba Home Appliance Sales 
(Nanhai) Co., Ltd.*) as head of the Administration and Human Resources Department, and then joined Southwest 
Securities Co., Ltd. in 2013, where he was in charge of performance management at the human resources 
department.

Ms. YIU Yi Ting（姚懿庭）, company secretary of the Company, joined the Group in June 2021. She has worked 
in various listed companies which were listed on the Main Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange, commercial 
bank and professional firms for over 19 years, and has extensive experience in corporate secretarial, corporate 
administration and trustee management services. Ms. Yiu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 
2011 and was awarded a Master’s Degree in Corporate Governance. She is an associate of both The Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
　

The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) submit their report together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Southwest Securities International Securities Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in 
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business segment is set out in note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The activities of the Group are mainly carried out in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 67.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and 
Analysis on pages 4 to 13 of this report respectively.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the Year, as far as the Board and the management are aware, there was no material breach of or non– 
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and 
operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees, customers and 
suppliers to meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the Year, there were no material and 
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to operating in compliance with the applicable environmental laws as well as protecting 
the environment by minimizing the negative impact of the Group’s existing business activities on the environment. 
Details are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 14 to 36 of this report.

RESERVES
Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity on page 69 and note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements of this report respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to the Shareholders amounted to 
HK$Nil (2020: HK$Nil).

DONATIONS
During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations amounted to HK$6,000 (2020: HK$4,000).

*　translation for reference only
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FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

DEBT SECURITIES
Issue of Bonds in April 2019
On 17 April 2019, the Company issued U.S. Dollar — denominated bonds in aggregate principal amount of 
US$200,000,000 (the “USD Bonds”) and raised proceeds of approximately US$200,000,000 before expenses. The 
issue price of the USD Bonds is 100% of its principal amount. The USD Bonds bear interest from 17 April 2019 
(inclusive) at the rate of 6.90% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The USD Bonds were previously listed 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (former Stock Code: 5983) and has matured 
and was fully settled on 17 April 2021. The Company intended to use the net proceeds from the USD Bonds 
issuance of US$198.9 million for refinancing existing offshore indebtedness and supplementing working capital. The 
Company may adjust the foregoing plans in response to changing market conditions. The Company will carefully 
evaluate such situations and may reallocate the use of the net proceeds. Details of the USD Bonds were set out in 
the announcements of the Company dated 8 April 2019, 11 April 2019 and 17 April 2019.

Details of the Company’s bonds issued are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Issue of Bonds in February 2021
On 9 February 2021, the Company issued U.S. Dollar — denominated bonds in aggregate principal amount of 
US$178,000,000 (the “2021 USD Bonds”) and raised proceeds of approximately US$178,000,000 before expenses. 
The issue price of the 2021 USD Bonds is 100% of its principal amount. The 2021 USD Bonds bear interest from 9 
February 2021 (inclusive) at the rate of 4.00% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The 2021 USD Bonds 
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 40594) and will 
mature on 9 February 2024 with the outstanding principal and interest payable at the maturity date. The Company 
currently intends to use the net proceeds from the Proposed Bonds Issue for refinancing the US$200,000,000 6.90% 
bonds due 17 April 2021 issued by the Company. The Company may adjust the foregoing plans in response to 
changing market conditions. The Company will carefully evaluate such situations and may reallocate the use of the 
net proceeds. Details of the 2021 USD Bonds were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 1 February 
2021, 4 February 2021 and 9 February 2021.

Details of the Company’s bonds issued are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUE OF PERPETUAL SECURITIES IN OCTOBER 2019
On 15 October 2019, the Company issued perpetual securities in aggregate principal amount of HK$580,000,000 
(the “Perpetual Securities”) and raised proceeds of HK$580,000,000 before expenses. The issue price is 100% of the 
principal amount of the Perpetual Securities. The Company intended to use the net proceeds from the Perpetual 
Securities issuance of approximately HK$579.6 million for working capital. Details of the Perpetual Securities were 
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 8 October 2019 and 15 October 2019.

Details of the Company’s perpetual securities issued are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on 
page 140 of this report.

*　translation for reference only
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
On 10 February 2021, the Company had completed an on-market repurchase of US$59,400,000 in aggregate 
principal amount (the “Repurchased Bonds”) of the US$200,000,000 6.90% bonds due 2021, which were listed on 
the Stock Exchange (former Bond Stock Code: 05983) (the “2021 Bonds”), representing 29.7% of the aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of the 2021 Bonds at the time. Thereafter, the Repurchased Bonds had been cancelled 
on 10 February 2021. The 2021 Bonds were matured and fully settled on 17 April 2021. Except as disclosed above, 
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares 
during the Year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors: Mr. WU Jian (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Hongwei (appointed on 12 April 2022)
Mr. HUANG Changsheng (appointed on 12 April 2022)
Dr. ZHAO Mingxun (resigned on 12 April 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors: Mr. MENG Gaoyuan
Dr. GUAN Wenwei
Mr. LIANG Jilin

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. WU Jian and Mr. LIANG Jilin will, retire by rotation 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company's Bye-law, Mr. ZHANG Hongwei and Mr. HUANG Changsheng, 
being the director appointed by the Board on 12 April 2022, shall hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, 
offer themself for re-election at the AGM.

Directors of Subsidiaries
Other than the Directors named under “DIRECTORS” above, the persons who have served on the boards of the 
subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this report included Mr. FEI Zheng, Mr. LO Wing 
Shing Steven, Mr. LIANG Hao, Ms. DENG Xiaoting, Ms. LAU Yim Ling Elaine, Mr. TONG Shing Johnson, Ms. CHENG 
Song, Mr. Darren Riley and Mr. CHENG Jie.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
During the Year and up to the date of this report, pursuant to the Company’s memorandum of association and 
Bye-laws, subject to the statutes, every Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company 
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she shall or may incur or 
sustain by reason of any act done in or about the execution of their duty or otherwise in relation thereto. The Group 
has arranged appropriate insurance which covers legal actions brought against the Directors and directors of the 
subsidiaries of the Group. The coverage and amount of such policy are reviewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors has entered into nor is proposing to enter into a service contract with the Company or its 
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 7(a) to the consolidated financial statement 
of this report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out in the section “BIOGRAPHIES OF 
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 49 to 51 of this report.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group also entered into certain transactions with parties regarded as “related parties” under the applicable 
accounting standards. Details of these transactions are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. 
One of these transactions also constituted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules, as identified 
below, which has complied with the applicable requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
On 3 July 2019, the Company entered into the framework agreement with SWSC, pursuant to which the Company 
conditionally agreed to engage SWSC, and SWSC conditionally agreed to provide to the Company client referral 
services in relation to financing business for the period from the 3 July 2019 to 31 December 2021 (the “Framework 
Agreement”). Unless otherwise agreed by SWSC and the Company and/or any of its wholly-owned subsidiary(ies) 
(the “Company Member”), the referral fee payable by the Company to SWSC for each successful client referral shall 
be the Standard Service Fee times the Referral Fee Rate. The “Standard Service Fee” represents the service fee to 
be received by the Company Member from the financing service provided to the client, net of all expenses. The 
“Referral Fee Rate” shall range from 10% to 50% and vary from one case to another depending on the range and 
complexity of the work performed by SWSC in every successful client referral case.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the referral fees payable by the Company to 
SWSC for each of the three years ending 31 December 2021 are HK$9 million, HK$9.45 million and HK$9.93 million 
respectively.

The Company is owned as to approximately 74.10% by Southwest Securities International Investment Limited 
(“SSII”), which is in turn wholly-owned by SWSC. Accordingly, SWSC is a connected person of the Company, and 
the transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions 
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions and annual caps under the Framework 
Agreement are subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the 
circular and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules. Mr. 
Wu Jian and Mr. Pu Rui (resigned on 29 March 2021), all being Directors connected with SWSC and/or its associates, 
were considered to have material interests in the transactions and annual caps under the Framework Agreement and 
have abstained from voting on the Board resolutions in relation thereto. Details of the transaction were disclosed in 
the announcement of the Company dated 3 July 2019.

During the Year, no transaction contemplated under the Framework Agreement has been entered into and 
accordingly no referral fee has been paid by the Company. The Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in the sections headed "Related Party Transactions" and "Continuing Connected Transaction" of 
this report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or its holding companies 
or controlling shareholders or any of its respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company 
or an entity connected with a Director of the Company is or was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Save as disclosed in the sections headed "Related Party Transactions" and "Continuing Connected Transaction" 
of this report, no contract of significance (i) between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and its controlling 
shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries); or (ii) for the provision of services to the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) 
by its controlling shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries) subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the 
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, the interests of Directors in businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the Group’s 
businesses of brokerage and margin financing, corporate finance, asset management and proprietary trading were 
as follows:

Name of Director Name of Company Nature of Interests

Mr. WU Jian Southwest Securities Co., Ltd., a 
controlling shareholder of the 
Company (“SWSC”)

secretary of CPC party committee,  
chairman, president

Yinhua Fund Management Co., Ltd. director

Mr. PU Rui* SWSC vice president

Having considered the following factors:

(i) the abovementioned Directors are fully aware of and fulfill their fiduciary duties to the Group in order to ensure 
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole at all times;

(ii) the abovementioned Directors will abstain from voting on any matter where there is or may be a conflict of 
interest; and

(iii) the competing business in which SWSC and its subsidiaries and associated companies engaged are primarily 
focused in the PRC whereas the Group’s businesses are primarily Hong Kong-based,

the Board is of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length 
from, the businesses of the abovementioned companies.

Notes:
* resigned on 29 March 2021

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 
the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Apart from those disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” below or in note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Apart from those disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” below and in note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in 
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted to any Directors, their respective spouse 
or children under the age of 18, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its controlling 
shareholder or their respective subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s Directors, their 
respective spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire such rights.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
2013 Share Option Scheme
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 November 2013, the Shareholders approved the 
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”). The summary of the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme is as follows:

1. The purposes of the 2013 Share Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel, to 
provide additional incentive to employees, directors, consultants, business associates and advisors and to 
promote the success of the Group.

2. The participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme include all employees, executive or non-executive directors, 
consultants, business associates and advisors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

3. The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to 
each participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued 
share capital of the Company, unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained in general meeting.

4. Share options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme at any time 
during a period not less than one year and not more than ten years from the date of grant of the relevant 
option.

5. No consideration for the grant of an option is required to be paid upon acceptance of the option. The 
remaining life of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is 1 year and 6 months as at the date of this report.

6. The exercise price for the shares shall be determined by the Board of Directors, but shall not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date 
of grant of the option; (ii) the average of the closing prices per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the 
nominal value of the shares.

7. The 2013 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from the date of adoption.

8. The total number of shares available for issue is 119,147,600 shares, representing 10% of total number of 
shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 12 November 2013.

9. During the Year and as at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share option and no share option 
was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2013 Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, the chief executives and their associates of the Company had any 
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in 
the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2021, substantial shareholders of the Company and other persons (other than Directors and chief 
executives of the Company whose interests or short positions have been disclosed above) who had interests or short 
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or as required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 
of Part XV of the SFO and to the best knowledge of the Company are as follows:

Interests in long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)

Name of shareholders Note
Capacity and 
nature of interest

Number of 
Shares held

Approximate 
% of the 

issued 
voting Shares

Southwest Securities International  
Investment Limited (“SSII”)

1 Beneficial owner 2,713,469,233 74.10%

Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. (“SWSC”) 1 Interest of controlled 
corporation

2,713,469,233 74.10%

Note:

1. SSII is wholly owned by SWSC. SWSC is therefore deemed, or taken to be, interested in all Shares which SSII is interested for 
the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had not been notified of any persons (other than 
Directors and chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying 
shares of the Company that were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or 
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s memorandum of association or Bye-laws or 
the applicable laws of Bermuda that would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings of 
shares of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Year, the percentage of the Group’s turnover (excluding net results from proprietary trading) attributable 
to the Group’s largest client and the five largest clients in aggregate were 8.9% and 36.4% respectively. None of the 
Directors of the Company; or any of their close associates; or any shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the 
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s total issued shares) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s 
five largest customers.

The Group has no major supplier due to the nature of principal activities of the Group.

ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY
On 13 February 2018, Southwest Securities (HK) Brokerage Limited（西證（香港）證券經紀有限公司）, an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Lender”) advanced to Jaguar Asian Limited (a company incorporated 
under the laws of the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, the “Borrower”) a secured security margin loan facility 
of up to HK$270 million (the “Loan”). The repayment date of the Loan was extended from 13 February 2019 to 28 
April 2019 on 13 February 2019 by way of an amendment deed.

On 16 October 2019, the Lender entered into a restructuring deed (the “Restructuring Deed”) of even date with the 
Borrower and the relevant guarantors to, amongst others, extend the repayment date of the outstanding amounts 
under the facility as follows:

(i) as to HK$10,000,000 on or before the date falling three days after the date of the Restructuring Deed and as 
to HK$20,000,000 on or before the date falling thirty days after the date of the Restructuring Deed, in respect 
of which HK$19,084,932 is to be applied towards repayment of the interests accrued from 13 February 2019 up 
to and including 15 September 2019 and HK$10,915,068 towards repayment of the Loan;

(ii) as to HK$30,000,000 on or prior to the date falling six months of the date of the Restructuring Deed, which is 
to be applied towards repayment of the Loan;

(iii) as to HK$50,000,000 on or prior to the date falling nine months of the date of the Restructuring Deed, which is 
to be applied towards repayment of the Loan; and

(iv) as to the balance of the Loan and all other sums payable on or before the date falling twelve months of the 
date of the Restructuring Deed.
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ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY (Continued)
As at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 March 2021, the outstanding amount of Loan and interest were approximately 
HK$335.7 million and approximately HK$352.3 million, respectively, with an interest rate of 12% per annum and 
default interest rate 20% per annum, and were secured by a charge over 588,720,412 ordinary shares in the issued 
share capital of Yi Hua Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, stock code: 2213) beneficially owned by the Borrower.

Details of the Loan are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 14 February 2018, 13 February 2019, 
16 October 2019 and 28 August 2020.

On 16 October 2020, the Lender initiated civil litigation (the “Litigation”) in the PRC against (1) Mr. Chen Da Ren（陳
達仁）; (2) Zhaoqing Jiazhou New City Real Estate Industry Development Company Limited*（肇慶市加洲新城房地
產實業開發有限公司）(“Zhaoqing Jiazhou”); and (3) Jiangmen Jinhui Century Plaza Property Management Company 
Limited*（江門市金滙世紀廣場物業管理有限公司）(“Jiangmen Jinhui”) to recover the Loan advanced to the Borrower
together with the relevant interest. Each of Mr. Chen Da Ren, Zhaoqing Jiazhou and Jiangmen Jinhui is a guarantor 
of the Loan.

On 19 October 2020, the Litigation was accepted by the Intermediate People’s Court of Jiangmen City, Guangdong 
Province*（廣東省江門市中級人民法院）.

As at the date of this report, the Litigation has not yet proceeded to trial. The Company will make further 
announcements in due course to inform the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company of any further 
significant development in the Litigation and the recovery of the Loan.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had made full impairment provision in respect of the Loan.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The main financial risks for the Group include interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and 
equity price risk. Details of the main risks and relevant risk management are set out in note 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Other major risks of the Group include market rise and operational risk. Details of the market risk and operational 
risk and relevant risk management are set out in the “RISK MANAGEMENT” on pages 45 to 46 of this report.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group for the Year can be found in the “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” 
and the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 4 to 13 of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based 
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 48 
of this report.

*　translation for reference only
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AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by 
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited ("SHINEWING"), who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint SHINEWING as auditor 
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board

WU Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
　

To the shareholders of
Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Southwest Securities International Securities Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 139, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including principal accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable arising from securities margin clients

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2021, gross accounts receivable 
arising from securities margin clients and its related 
expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance amounted 
to approximately HK$579,384,000 and approximately 
HK$536,389,000 respectively.

We have identified the impairment assessment on 
accounts receivable arising from securities margin 
clients as a key audit matter since it involves significant 
management judgement and est imates in the 
identification of significant increase in credit risk, the 
use of models and the choice of inputs and assumptions 
in the calculation of ECL at the reporting date, such as 
probability of default, loss given default, exposure at 
default, amongst others.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
for exposures. The Group considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This 
includes quantitative and qualitative information and 
also includes the development of forward-looking 
analysis.

Details are set out in note 16 and the accounting policy 
on pages 80 to 82.

Our procedures in respect of ECL allowance for accounts 
receivable arising from securities margin clients included 
the following:

• We obtained an understanding of the Group’s 
credit risk management practices and assessed the 
Group’s credit provisioning policy.

• We tested the appropriateness of the Group’s 
determination of significant increase in credit risk 
and the basis for classification of exposures into 
the three stages. Our testing included checking 
to margin loan overdue information, loan-to-value 
percentage and other related information.

• We evaluated management’s judgment and 
assumptions, and checked key parameters to 
external data sources, where available, such as 
default rates published by credit rating agencies. 
Besides, we also recalculated the ECL amounts 
based on the above parameters and analysed 
the sensitivity of the ECL amounts to changes in 
modelling assumptions, including the forward-
looking probability weighted economic scenarios. 
In addition, we also assessed the loss allowance 
with reference to the fair value of the collateral 
and other sources of cash flows, and developed 
a reasonable range of expected cash shortfall for 
comparison with the Group’s estimate of ECL.

• We evaluated the Group’s disclosures in relation to 
credit risk in note 32.
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OTHER MATTERS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 29 March 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed 
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any 
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chui Yiu Cheong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chui Yiu Cheong
Practising Certificate Number: P07219

Hong Kong
25 March 2022



67Annual Report 2021　Southwest Securities International Securities Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3 129,633 251,174
Other income and gains 5 5,218 37,132

134,851 288,306

Fee and commission expenses (11,629) (14,835)
Finance costs 6a (85,741) (116,083)
Staff costs (including director's emoluments) 6b (50,238) (97,035)
Depreciation 6c (17,891) (18,843)
Expected credit losses on financial assets, net 6c (1,501) (149,286)
Other operating expenses (26,485) (30,712)
Fair value losses arising from investment fund (349) –

Total expenses (193,834) (426,794)

Loss before tax 6 (58,983) (138,488)

Income tax expense 8 – –

Loss for the year (58,983) (138,488)

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 75 –

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on translation of financial statements of 

foreign operations (4) (179)

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year 71 (179)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (58,912) (138,667)

Loss for the year attributable to
— equity shareholders of the Company (63,786) (138,488)
— holder of other equity instrument 4,803 –

(58,983) (138,488)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to
— equity shareholders of the Company (63,715) (138,667)
— holder of other equity instrument 4,803 –

(58,912) (138,667)

Loss per share
— Basic (HK cents) 9 (1.742) (3.782)

— Diluted (HK cents) 9 (1.742) (3.782)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 10 1,890 4,355
Right-of-use assets 12 14,901 28,554
Intangible assets 11 – –
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 13 – –
Other non-current assets 14 3,400 8,048

20,191 40,957

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 1,227,529 1,391,161
Accounts receivable 16 205,855 176,300
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 17 14,734 15,267
Tax recoverable 2,661 2,661
Cash and bank balances 18 285,073 382,180

1,735,852 1,967,569

Current liabilities
Bonds payable 19 – 1,548,676
Derivative financial liabilities 20 6,747 2,724
Accounts payable 21 68,669 57,909
Other payables and accrued charges 22 33,817 43,041
Provisions 23 21,151 37,126
Lease liabilities 12 17,817 15,268
Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests  

in consolidated investment fund 25 5,408 1,059

153,609 1,705,803

Net current assets 1,582,243 261,766

Total assets less current liabilities 1,602,434 302,723

Non-current liabilities
Bonds payable 19 1,382,512 –
Provisions 23 – 2,034
Lease liabilities 12 156 17,208

1,382,668 19,242

NET ASSETS 219,766 283,481

Capital and reserves
Share capital 26 366,182 366,182
Reserves (726,416) (662,701)
Other equity instrument 27 580,000 580,000

TOTAL EQUITY 219,766 283,481

The consolidated financial statements on page 67 to 139 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 25 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

WU Jian ZHAO Mingxun
Director Director

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share
capital

Investment 
revaluation

reserve
Share

premium
*Capital
reserve

Foreign 
exchange

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

Holder of 
other 

equity
instrument Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2021 366,182 (10,021) 249,158 40,836 (234) (942,440) (296,519) 580,000 283,481

Loss for the year – – – – – (63,786) (63,786) 4,803 (58.983)

Exchange difference on translation of financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries – – – – (4) – (4) – (4)

Fair value gain on financial assets  
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income – 75 – – – – 75 – 75

Other comprehensive income (expense)  
for the year, net of tax – 75 – – (4) – 71 – 71

Total comprehensive income (expense)  
for the year – 75 – – (4) (63,786) (63,715) 4,803 (58,912)

Transfer of investment revaluation reserve of 
financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income upon disposal – 6,645 – – – (6,645) – – –

Distribution to holder of other equity instrument – – – – – – – (4,803) (4,803)

At 31 December 2021 366,182 (3,301) 249,158 40,836 (238) (1,012,871) (360,234) 580,000 219,766

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share
capital

Investment 
revaluation

reserve
Share

premium
*Capital
reserve

Foreign 
exchange

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

Holder of 
other 

equity
instrument Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 366,182 (10,021) 249,158 40,836 (55) (803,952) (157,852) 580,000 422,148

Loss for the year – – – – – (138,488) (138,488) – (138,488)

Exchange difference on translation of financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries – – – – (179) – (179) – (179)

Other comprehensive expense for the year,  
net of tax – – – – (179) – (179) – (179)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – – (179) (138,488) (138,667) – (138,667)

At 31 December 2020 366,182 (10,021) 249,158 40,836 (234) (942,440) (296,519) 580,000 283,481

* The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company 
for the acquisition of the subsidiaries and the nominal value of the ordinary shares of these subsidiaries in issue as at 30 June 
2001 which were converted into deferred non-voting share capital on 11 January 2002.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (58,983) (138,488)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of fixed assets 6(c) 3,032 3,833
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6(c) 14,859 15,010
Expected credit loss on financial assets, net 6(c) 1,501 149,286
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 6(c) 4 –
Exchange losses/(gains), net 1,640 (33,786)
Unrealised fair value losses/(gains) in derivative financial liabilities 3 4,023 (15,008)
Other interest income 5 (1,583) (1,996)
Interest expenses 6(a) 83,951 113,276
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 6(a) 1,790 2,807
Unrealised fair value losses in financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss 3 27,727 53,942
Fair value losses arising from investment fund 349 –
Written-off of staff bonus 5 (1,000) –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 77,310 148,876
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 135,905 (705,538)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (31,056) 206,578
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other receivables  

and other assets 609 (6,394)
Increase in accounts payable 10,760 9,681
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accrued charges (9,134) 6,235
Decrease in contract liabilities – (1,336)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (17,009) 26,189
Decrease in other non-current assets 4,648 24

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 172,033 (315,685)
Tax refund – 4,223
Interest received 1,506 1,920

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 173,539 (309,542)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 75 –
Payment for purchase of fixed assets 10 (571) (431)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (496) (431)
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bonds issued 18(b) (1,553,471) –
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 18(b) 1,379,998 –
Payment of transaction costs on issuance of bonds 18(b) (7,715) –
New short-term bank loans raised 18(b) 519,700 609,710
Repayment of short-term bank loans 18(b) (519,700) (609,710)
Bank loans interest paid 18(b) (208) (296)
Principal portion of lease payments 18(b) (15,709) (14,876)
Interest paid on bonds issued 18(b) (79,268) (106,972)
Capital injection by third party interests in consolidated investment fund 18(b) 4,000 1,000
Interest paid on lease liabilities 18(b) (1,790) (2,807)
Other interest paid 18(b) (760) (170)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (274,923) (124,121)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (101,880) (434,094)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 382,180 789,090
Effect on exchange rate changes 4,773 27,184

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year,  
represented by cash and bank balances 18(a) 285,073 382,180

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

GENERAL
Southwest Securities International Securities Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in Bermuda with 
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
The immediate holding company of the Company is Southwest Securities International Investment Limited (“SSII”), 
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly-owned by Southwest Securities Co., Ltd. 
(“SWSC”). SWSC is the ultimate holding company of the Company, which is incorporated in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”) with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The addresses of 
the registered office and the principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information 
section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary (the “Group”) comprise:

– broking index, commodity and currency futures, options and securities, unit trusts, investment-linked and 
insurance products for its clients;

– provision of margin financing, underwriting and placements, corporate finance advisory services and asset 
management services; and

– trading in securities, equity index, commodity and currency futures contracts for its own account.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") which is the same as the 
functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise 
indicated.

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and accounting principles generally accepted in 
Hong Kong. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions 
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 
Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is the historical cost 
basis except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, derivative financial liabilities and net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests 
in consolidated investment fund, which are measured at fair value as explained in the principal accounting 
policies set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in 
the accounting policies set out below.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basic of consolidation (Continued)
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
where the Group has: (i) the power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the 
Group’s returns.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income or expense are attributed to the equity 
shareholders of the Company and holder of other equity instrument. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Investment funds
The Group has invested in investment funds. The Group’s percentage ownership in the investment funds can 
fluctuate from day to day according to the Group’s and third-party participation in them. Where the Group is 
deemed to control such funds, with control determined based on an analysis of the guidance in HKFRS 10, 
they are consolidated, with the interests of parties other than the Group being classified as liabilities because 
there is a contractual obligation for the issuer to repurchase or redeem units in such funds for cash. These are 
presented as “Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment funds” as 
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. Where the Group does not control such funds, 
they are carried at fair value and classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2021:

Amendment to HKFRS16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and  

HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

74 Southwest Securities International Securities Limited　Annual Report 2021 

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related Amendments3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and the 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 
Presentation of Financial Statements-Classification by the 
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on 
Demand Clause3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transactions3

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 20211

Amendments to HKFRS17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9  
– Comparative Information3

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the above new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of an item of fixed assets comprises its 
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location 
for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of fixed assets over their estimated useful lives as set out below 
from the date on which they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual values, 
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of fixed assets have different useful lives, the cost of the 
item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Motor vehicle 5 years

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of fixed assets are determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit 
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), derivative financial liabilities and net assets attributable 
to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal 
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for 
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The 
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

Leasing
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented 
as separate line items in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(i) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost 
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. The cost 
of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or 
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis as follows:

Properties Over the lease term
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments are fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments).

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured if there is a modification, i.e. a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a 
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of 
an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). It also applies the leases of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment 
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when 
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising 
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and fair 
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are 
met:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that 
are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit 
losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired 
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in 
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that 
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)
(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by 
applying the credit adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial 
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset 
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income and gains” line item 
(note 5).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 
to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the 
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The 
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, 
they will be transferred to retained earnings.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at 
FVTPL. Specifically:

• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity 
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business 
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at 
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria 
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities 
or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset 
and is included in the "Net gains from proprietary trading" line item (note 3). Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in note 33.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or 
loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. The measurement of ECL is a function of the 
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at 
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted 
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that 
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

General approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information. In particular, the 
following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the forgoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of 
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, 
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt 
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance 
with the globally understood definition, which means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and 
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, 
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 
or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified 
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for accounts receivable arising from the provision 
of corporate finance advisory services which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition 
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or 
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach
For accounts receivable arising from the provision of corporate finance advisory services that do not contain a 
significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect 
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the 
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has applied probability of default based on that 
of comparable companies, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

Financial instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the 
continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured 
in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is 1) contingent consideration of an 
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at 
FVTPL.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a 
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire 
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss included in the "Net gains from proprietary trading" line item (note 3) to the extent 
that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held 
for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when, and only when, there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund 
A financial instrument that gives the holder the right to put it back to the issuer for cash or another financial 
asset (a ‘puttable instrument’) is a financial liability. The financial instruments is a financial liability even when 
the amount of cash or other financial assets is determined on the basis of an index or other item that has the 
potential to increase or decrease. The existence of an option for the holder to put the instrument back to the 
issuer for cash or another financial asset means that the puttable instrument meets the definition of a financial 
liability.

Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund are determined 
based on the attributable shares of the residual assets of the consolidated investment fund after deducting the 
consolidated investment fund’s other liabilities.

Trust accounts
Trust accounts maintained by the Group to hold clients’ monies are treated as off-statement of financial 
position items and offset against accounts payable.

In the course of the conduct of the regulated activities of ordinary business, subsidiaries which are licensed 
corporations, act as trustees that result in the holding of clients’ monies on behalf of clients and other 
institutions. These assets are not assets of the Group and, therefore, are not included in its consolidated 
statement of financial position, and the corresponding amounts classified under accounts payable are treated 
as items not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible Assets (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally 
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted to 
use.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance 
as the Group performs;

• The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced; or

• The Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible Assets (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or 
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties and discounts.

Provision of securities, futures and options brokerage services
The performance obligation for commission income on securities, futures and options dealing is satisfied at a 
point in time when the customer has received the service from the Group.

Handling income
The Group provides custodian and handling services for securities, futures, options and other types of 
products. The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the transaction is executed and 
service is completed.

Provision of underwriting and placing services
The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the customer has received the service from the 
Group. Commission income from underwriting and placing is recognised when the underlying securities are 
being written or placed.

Provision of initial public offering ("IPO") sponsor services
As IPO sponsor services are usually highly interdependent and interrelated, the Group treats all IPO sponsor 
services promised in the contract as a single performance obligation. In determining the timing of satisfaction 
of the performance obligation, the Group examines its services on a contract by contract basis and considers if 
it has a right to payment at an amount that reasonably compensates it for its performance completed to date 
at all times throughout the contract.

For IPO sponsor fee income being recognised overtime, the Group measures the progress using the output 
method and estimates the percentage of completion by key tasks performed to date.

Provision of consultancy and financial advisory services
Consultancy and financial advisory services’ performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in 
time with reference to the detailed terms of transactions as stipulated in the contracts entered into with its 
customers and counterparties.

For consultancy and financial advisory services performance obligations are satisfied over time as services are 
rendered if the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Provision of asset management services
Revenue from asset management services is recognised over time as services are rendered if the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. Fees for asset management 
services are calculated based on a fixed percentage of the value of assets managed and due on a regular basis 
as mutually agreed.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Provision of insurance brokerage service
The performance obligation relating to the insurance brokerage service is satisfied at the point when the terms 
of the insurance policy have been agreed contractually by the insurer and policyholder, and the insurer has a 
present right to payment from the policyholder.

Corporate finance arrangement and commitment services
The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the customer has received the service from the 
Group.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the 
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign exchange reserve.

Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its fixed asset, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent 
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, 
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group 
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest 
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of 
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other 
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Salaries, bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of 
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans
The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in 
profit or loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme 
prior the contributions are vested fully in those employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from 
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Long service payments
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments under the Employment Ordinance is the 
amounts of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior 
periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted to its present 
value and after deducting the fair value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

Provisions
Provision mainly represents the provisions for staff costs and reinstatement costs. Provisions are recognised 
when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Other equity instrument
Other equity instrument represented perpetual securities issued by the Group which contain no contractual 
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset; or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; and perpetual securities issued 
includes no terms and arrangements that the securities must or will alternatively be settled in the Group’s own 
equity instruments. The Group classifies perpetual securities issued as an equity instrument. Fees, commissions 
and other transaction costs of perpetual securities issuance are deducted from equity. The interest on 
perpetual securities is recognised as profit distribution at the time of declaration.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes Items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are 
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary 
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition due to 
application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the 
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities 
and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of 
remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and 
timing of recognition of revenue from contracts with customers:

(i) Identification of the performance obligations, recognition of revenue over time versus at a point in time, 
and choosing an appropriate method of measuring progress of IPO sponsor service

As IPO sponsor services are usually highly interdependent and interrelated, the Group treats all IPO 
sponsor services promised in the contract as a single performance obligation.

In determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation, the Group examines its services 
on a contract by contract basis and considers if it has a right to payment at an amount that reasonably 
compensates it for its performance completed to date at all times throughout the contract.

For IPO sponsor fee income being recognised overtime, the Group measures the progress using the 
output method and estimates the percentage of completion by key tasks performed to date.

For IPO sponsor fee income not being recognised overtime, the fee will only be recognised when the 
single performance obligation is completed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(1) Impairment assessment on accounts receivable arising from securities margin clients
The Group calculates ECL allowance for accounts receivable from securities margin clients based on 
the estimated probability of default of counterparties with similar credit ratings, loss given default and 
exposure at default, with adjustment to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions, as appropriate.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward– looking 
information.

The Group considers a financial asset is in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in 
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

(2) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management estimation is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. There were no 
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). The amount of 
unrecognised tax losses is disclosed in note 24.
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3. REVENUE
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Total revenue from contracts with customers (i)
Brokerage:
— commission income on securities dealing 5,150 9,213
— commission income on futures and options dealing 447 1,362
— insurance brokerage fee income 2,373 2,972

7,970 13,547

Corporate finance:
— IPO sponsor fee income 6,270 12,412
— underwriting and placing commission income 16 5,105
— consultancy and financial advisory fee income 2,488 5,359

8,774 22,876

16,744 36,423

Total revenue from other sources
Interest income calculated using the effective  

interest method from:
— margin financing 4,803 14,158

Net gains from proprietary trading (note) 108,086 200,593

112,889 214,751

Total revenue 129,633 251,174

Note:

The amount included the unrealised fair value losses in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted to 
approximately HK$27,727,000 (2020: HK$68,949,000) and unrealised fair value losses in derivative financial liabilities 
amounted to approximately HK$4,023,000 (2020: unrealised fair value gain of HK$15,008,000).
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3. REVENUE (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(i) An analysis of total revenue from contracts with customers is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analyse by business segment:
Brokerage
— services transferred at a point in time 7,970 13,547

Corporate finance
— services transferred at a point in time 16 10,464
— services transferred over time 8,758 12,412

8,774 22,876

16,744 36,423

Analyse by timing of revenue recognition:
— services transferred at a point in time 7,986 24,011
— services transferred over time 8,758 12,412

16,744 36,423

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for contracts with 
customers
As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$23,530,000 (2020: HK$20,400,000). The 
amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future from IPO sponsor fee income contracts 
and consultancy and financial advisory fee income contracts.

The Group will recognise this revenue as the service is completed, which is expected to occur over the next 
12-18 months (2020: next 12-18 months).
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Directors of the Company have been identified as the chief operating decision makers ("CODM") to 
evaluate the performance of operating segments based on the Group’s internal reporting in respect of these 
segments. For the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Directors of 
the Company monitor the results attributable to each reportable segment on the following basis:

– Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external customers; and

– Segment results represent the profit or loss incurred by each segment without allocation of central 
administration costs, depreciation, central finance costs, and income tax expense.

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are not considered to be crucial for resources allocation 
and thereafter not being regularly provided to the CODM.

Reportable operating segments
The Group’s operating business are organised and managed separately, according to the nature of services 
provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers services which are subject to 
risks and returns that are different from those of the other operating segments.

The CODM consider brokerage and margin financing, corporate finance, asset management and proprietary 
trading are the Group’s major operating segments. The principal activities of these operating segments are as 
follows:

Brokerage and margin financing Provision of brokerage services in securities, futures and options and 
insurance products; provision of margin financing services

Corporate finance Provision of underwriting and placing and consultancy and financial 
advisory services

Asset management Provision of asset management services

Proprietary trading Proprietary trading in securities, futures and options, fund 
investments

Other operations Other operations segment represents the operating segment 
which does not meet the quantitative threshold for determining 
reportable segment that have been aggregated in arriving at the 
reporting segment
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Reportable operating segments (Continued)

2021

Brokerage 
and 

margin 
financing

Corporate 
finance

Asset 
management

Proprietary 
trading

Other 
operations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue  
from external customers 12,773 8,774 – 108,086 – 129,633

Other income and gains 2,079 1,000 749 3 1,387 5,218

Fee and commission expenses (4,023) – – (7,606) – (11,629)

Finance costs (11,356) – – (58,693) – (70,049)

Expected credit losses on financial 
assets, net (45) (1,456) – – – (1,501)

Other losses arising from 
consolidation of investment fund – – – (349) – (349)

Other operating expenses  
and costs (35,852) (22,548) (5,938) (13,885) (6,028) (84,251)

Segment results (36,424) (14,230) (5,189) 27,556 (4,641) (32,928)

Unallocated expenses, represented 
central administration costs (7,331)

Depreciation of fixed assets (3,032)
Unallocated finance costs (15,692)

Loss before tax (58,983)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Reportable operating segments (Continued)

2020

Brokerage 
and 

margin 
financing

Corporate 
finance

Asset 
management

Proprietary 
trading

Other 
operations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue  
from external customers 27,705 22,876 – 200,593 – 251,174

Other income and gains 4,087 – – 16 33,029 37,132

Fee and commission expenses (6,311) (28) – (8,496) – (14,835)

Finance costs (34,449) – – (60,120) – (94,569)

Expected credit losses on financial 
assets, net (147,811) (1,475) – – – (149,286)

Other operating expenses  
and costs (68,825) (30,175) (873) (21,071) (3,516) (124,460)

Segment results (225,604) (8,802) (873) 110,922 29,513 (94,844)

Unallocated expenses, represented 
central administration costs (18,297)

Depreciation of fixed assets (3,833)
Unallocated finance costs (21,514)

Loss before tax (138,488)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the services were provided. During 
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue is mainly derived from 
customers in Hong Kong.

The geographical location of the non-current assets, other than financial instruments (“specified non-current 
assets”), is based on the physical location of the assets. The principal specified non-current assets of the Group 
were also located in Hong Kong. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical segment is provided.

Major customers
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the following external customers 
contributed more than 10% of total revenue of the Group. For major customers’ consideration, the total 
revenue of the Group excludes the net gains from proprietary trading.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A from brokerage and margin financing and  
corporate finance segments N/A* 8,536

* Customer A did not contribute more than 10% of total revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 December 
2021.

5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income
Handling income 1,116 1,278
Other interest income 1,583 1,996
Written-off of staff bonus 1,000 –
Arrangement fee income 428 –
Sundry income 1,091 72

5,218 3,346
Other gains
Exchange gains, net – 33,786

5,218 37,132
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging:
(a) Finance costs

Bank loans interest expenses 208 296
Bond interest expenses 79,012 107,073
Imputed interest expenses on bonds payable (note 19) 3,971 5,737
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 1,790 2,807
Other interest expenses 760 170

85,741 116,083

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments as disclosed in note 7)
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 1,207 1,428
Salaries, commission and allowances 49,031 95,607

50,238 97,035

(c) Other items
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit-related assurance services 1,329 2,532
— Other services 100 635
Depreciation of fixed assets 3,032 3,833
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14,859 15,010
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 4 –
Expected credit losses on financial assets, net 1,501 149,286
Exchange loss, net 1,640 –
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

The analysis of the aggregate amount of emoluments received or receivable by the Directors of the 
Company are as follows:

2021

Name of Director Fees Salaries
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contributions 
to retirement 

benefit 
schemes

Other services 
in connection 

with the 
management 

of affairs 
of its 

subsidiaries Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors:
Wu Jian – – – – – –
Pu Rui – – – – – –
Zhao Mingxun – 1,740 2,126 18 – 3,884

Independent Non-executive 
Directors:

Meng Gaoyuan 204 – – – – 204
Guan Wenwei 204 – – – – 204
Liang Jilin (Note iv) 204 – – – – 204

612 1,740 2,126 18 – 4,496
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

2020

Name of Director Fees Salaries
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contributions 
to retirement 

benefit 
schemes

Other services 
in connection 

with the 
management 

of affairs 
of its 

subsidiaries Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors:
Wu Jian – – – – – –
Pu Rui – – – – – –
Wang Huiyun (Note i) – – – – – –
Xiong Xiaoqiang (Note ii) – – – – – –
Zhao Mingxun – 1,740 6,584 18 – 8,342

Independent Non-executive 
Directors:

Wu Jun (Note iii) 109 – – – – 109
Meng Gaoyuan 204 – – – – 204
Guan Wenwei 204 – – – – 204
Liang Jilin (Note iv) 102 – – – – 102

619 1,740 6,584 18 – 8,961

Note:

(i) Ms. Wang Huiyun resigned as a director on 18 March 2020.

(ii) Mr. Xiong Xiaoqiang resigned as a director on 26 March 2020.

(iii) Professor Wu Jun resigned on 14 July 2020.

(iv) Mr. Liang Jilin was appointed as a director on 1 July 2020.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of 
the Company.

Bonuses, which are recommended by the remuneration committee and subsequently approved by the 
Board of Directors, are discretionary and are determined by reference to the Group’s and the individuals’ 
performance.
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of Directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the Directors of the Company or its holding 
company that were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

(c) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
After due and careful consideration, the Directors are of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements 
and contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company, its holding 
companies or its subsidiaries was a party and in which Directors or a connected entity of the Directors had 
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil) or at any 
time during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Five highest paid employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid employees during the year included one director (2020: one), details of whose 
remuneration are disclosed above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2020: four) 
highest paid employees who are not a director of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 8,913 6,763
Discretionary bonuses 354 3,414
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 66 56

9,333 10,233

Number of individuals
2021 2020

The emoluments, excluding Directors’ emoluments,  
fell within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 2

4 4

Number of 
individuals

2021

The emoluments of the senior management of the Company fell within the following bands:

HK$1,500,000 or Below 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid employees’ emoluments (Continued)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors of the Company or any of the five highest paid 
individuals as (a) an inducement to join or upon joining the Group and (b) compensation for loss of office 
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. There were no arrangements under which 
Directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2021 
and 31 December 2020.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable 
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for both 
reporting periods since the assessable profit is wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT 
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. No provision for PRC income tax has been made for the year 
ended 2020 since there were no assessable profit generated.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in which 
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (58,983) (138,488)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (9,732) (22,851)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 50,223 16,082
Tax effect on non-taxable items (15,512) (45,739)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary difference 293 451
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (32,149) (69)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 6,877 52,268
Effect of different tax rate of PRC subsidiaries – (209)
Others – 67

Income tax expenses – –

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 24.
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9. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share (63,786) (138,488)

Number of shares ’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 3,661,830 3,661,830

Basic loss per share (HK cents) (1.742) (3.782)

Diluted loss per share (HK cents) (1.742) (3.782)

Note:

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 
2020. Accordingly, the diluted loss per share for the respective years are the same as basic loss per share.

Dividends
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2021, nor has any dividend been 
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020: HK$nil).
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10. FIXED ASSETS

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Motor 
vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
As at 1 January 2020 10,984 1,708 1,030 24,979 757 39,458
Additions – – 7 424 – 431
Disposals – – (8) (27) – (35)

As at 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 10,984 1,708 1,029 25,376 757 39,854

Additions – – 7 564 – 571
Disposals – – (35) (993) – (1,028)

As at 31 December 2021 10,984 1,708 1,001 24,947 757 39,397

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2020 8,428 1,033 640 21,322 277 31,700
Provided during the year 852 315 175 2,339 152 3,833
Disposals – – (8) (26) – (34)

As at 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 9,280 1,348 807 23,635 429 35,499

Provided during the year 852 271 159 1,599 151 3,032
Disposals – – (31) (993) – (1,024)

As at 31 December 2021 10,132 1,619 935 24,241 580 37,507

Net carrying amounts:
As at 31 December 2021 852 89 66 706 177 1,890

As at 31 December 2020 1,704 360 222 1,741 328 4,355

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group holds two trading rights on the Stock Exchange and two trading rights on the Hong Kong Futures 
Exchange Limited (the “Futures Exchange”). They were fully amortised as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for properties used in its operations. Leases of properties generally have lease 
terms between 1 and 3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased 
assets outside the Group.

Right-of-use assets:
The net carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Properties
HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 43,564
Depreciation charge (15,010)

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 28,554
Additions 1,206
Depreciation charge (14,859)

As at 31 December 2021 14,901

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately 
HK$1,206,000, due to a new lease of property.

Lease liabilities:
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current 156 17,208
Current 17,817 15,268

17,973 32,476

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under lease liabilities
Within one year 17,817 15,268
After one year but within two years 156 17,208

17,973 32,476
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12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)
Lease liabilities: (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into a new lease agreement in respect of 
renting property and recognised lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$1,206,000. All the leases 
payments are fixed payments.

The maternity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 32.

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 14,859 15,010
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 1,790 2,807
Expense relating to short-term leases 38 –
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 180 190

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 16,867 18,007

The total cash outflow relating to leases amounted to approximately HK$17,717,000 (2020: HK$17,873,000).

13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets designated at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value – –

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 
as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 
one (2020: two) investment with nil fair value.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has disposed an unlisted equity investment to an 
independent third party with consideration approximately to HK$75,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no dividends were received by the Group (2020: nil).
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14. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Reserve fund deposits with the Futures Exchange 1,500 1,500
Statutory deposits with the Stock Exchange 300 300
Contributions to the Central Clearing and Settlement System  

Guarantee Fund 1,500 1,500
Admission fees paid to the Hong Kong Securities Clearing  

Company Limited 100 100
Deposits — non-current portion – 4,648

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 3,400 8,048

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no impairment was charged to profit or loss (2020: nil).

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL
Equity securities
— Listed in Hong Kong (i) 730,457 917,656
— Listed outside Hong Kong (i) 131,976 333,048

862,433 1,250,704

Debt securities
— Listed in Hong Kong (ii) 272,627 70,866
— Listed outside Hong Kong (ii) 60,957 38,083

333,584 108,949

Unlisted fund investments (iii) 31,512 31,508

1,227,529 1,391,161

Notes:

(i) Fair values of the listed equity securities are determined with reference to quoted active market bid price on the 
respective stock exchanges at the end of each reporting period.

(ii) For the debt securities, the fair values are determined with reference to the quoted price provided by brokers/financial 
institutions.

(iii) For the unlisted fund investments, the fair values are determined by their net assets values quoted by the relevant 
investment trusts with reference to the underlying assets (mainly listed securities) of the fund.

(iv) The Group has not pledged any equity securities, debt securities and fund investment as at 31 December 2021 to any 
bank as collateral for the facilities granted (31 December 2020: nil).
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of 
business of brokerage services in securities, futures and 
options contracts:
– securities margin clients (a) 579,384 624,053
– securities cash clients (b) 720 7,798
– securities subscription clients (b) – 20,966
– securities and options clearing houses and brokers (b) 24,343 58,322
– futures clients (b) – 3

Accounts receivable arising from proprietary trading (b) 135,783 –
Accounts receivable arising from the provision of  

corporate finance advisory services (b) 5,542 4,171

745,772 715,313

Less: impairment (539,917) (539,013)

205,855 176,300

As at 31 December 2021, the gross amount of accounts receivable arising from contracts with customers 
amounted to approximately HK$5,542,000 (2020: HK$4,171,000).

Notes:

(a) Analysis on accounts receivable from securities margin clients

(i) The carrying amount of accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of business of brokerage services in 
securities margin clients, net of impairment of the Group was as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of  
business of brokerage services  in securities:
– Securities margin clients 579,384 624,053

Less: Impairment
– Stage 1 – –
– Stage 2 – –
– Stage 3 (536,389) (536,381)

42,995 87,672
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(a) Analysis on accounts receivable from securities margin clients (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

Accounts receivable arising from securities margin clients are secured by their pledged securities, repayable 
on demand and bear interests at commercial rates. Credits are extended to securities margin clients subject 
to the marginable value of the listed securities pledged with the Group. The margin ratios are reviewed and 
determined periodically. At the end of the reporting period, fair value of marketable securities pledged by 
securities margin clients was approximately HK$404,177,000 (2020: HK$263,218,000).

No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the Directors of the Company as the ageing analysis does 
not give additional value in view of the nature of brokerage business.

(ii) Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of business of brokerages services in securities margin 
clients of the Group are internally classified into the following categories:

Excellent : Margin obligations are expected to be met and exposures are fully secured by 
collaterals, which demonstrate good loan-to-collaterals’ value ratios (“LTVs”). 
Repayment of interest and principal is not in doubt.

Good : Margin obligations are expected to be met and exposures are fully secured by 
collaterals, but LTVs are higher than the excellent grade exposures. Repayment 
of interest and principal is not in doubt.

Non-performing : Exposures where some losses of principal or interest may be possible after taking 
into account of the realisable value of the underlying collaterals.

Individually impaired : Exposures where default events have occurred and individual impairment 
assessments are made to determine the impairment allowances.

The following is the analysis of the gross carrying amount of the accounts receivable arising from securities 
margin clients as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 by the Group’s internal credit rating and year end 
classification:

2021

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
not credit- 

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
credit- 

impaired Total
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Internal rating grade
Excellent 42,885 – – 42,885
Good – – – –
Non-performing – 73 – 73
Individually impaired – – 536,426 536,426

42,885 73 536,426 579,384

At 31 December 2021, for the gross receivables of stage 3 securities margin clients, fair value of marketable 
securities pledged was approximately HK$64,000.
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(a) Analysis on accounts receivable from securities margin clients (Continued)

(ii) (Continued)

2020

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
not credit- 

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
credit- 

impaired Total
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Internal rating grade
Excellent 85,189 – – 85,189
Good – – – –
Non-performing – 6 – 6
Individually impaired – – 538,858 538,858

85,189 6 538,858 624,053

At 31 December 2020, for the gross receivables of stage 3 securities margin clients, fair value of marketable 
securities pledged was HK$Nil.

(iii) The movements in the impairment of accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of business of 
brokerage services in securities margin clients were as follows:

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
not credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
credit-

impaired Total
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 – – 387,498 387,498
New assets originated (Note) – – 4,646 4,646
Charged to profit or loss – – 144,237 144,237

As at 31 December 2020 and  
1 January 2021 – – 536,381 536,381

Charged to profit or loss – – 8 8

As at 31 December 2021 – – 536,389 536,389

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, new origination of securities margin clients with gross amount 
of HK$4,646,000 were transferred from stage 1 and classified under stage 3. This results in an increase in 
loss allowance of HK$4,646,000 as at year end.
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Analysis on accounts receivable other than accounts receivable arising from securities margin clients

i. The carrying amounts of accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of business of brokerage services 
in securities and futures and options contract other than securities margin clients of the Group are as follows:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary course of 
business of brokerage services in securities and futures  
and options contracts:
– securities cash clients (1) 720 7,798
– securities subscription clients (2) – 20,966
– securities and options clearing houses and brokers (3) 24,343 58,322
– futures clients – 3

Accounts receivable arising from proprietary trading 135,783 –
Accounts receivable arising from the provision of  

corporate finance advisory services (4) 5,542 4,171

166,388 91,260
Less: impairment (5) (3,528) (2,632)

162,860 88,628

(1) Accounts receivable arising from cash clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are 
repayable on demand after settlement date. Overdue accounts receivable are repayable on demand and 
charged interests at commercial rates. The normal settlement terms of accounts receivable arising from 
the ordinary course of business of brokerage in securities and futures contracts are one to three days 
after trade date. No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the Directors of the Company as the 
ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of brokerage business.

(2) At the end of the prior reporting period, accounts receivable arising from securities subscription clients 
were not yet due and were required to be settled on the allotment date determined under the relevant 
market practices or exchange rules.

(3) The Group maintains margin deposits with the options clearing house in respect of clients’ monies 
in the ordinary course of business of option brokerage. At the end of the reporting period, clients’ 
monies deposits maintained in The SEHK Option Clearing House Limited not otherwise dealt with in the 
consolidated financial statements amounted to HK$20,352,000 (2020: HK$5,303,000).

At the end of the reporting period, accounts receivable arising from securities and options clearing houses 
and brokers were not overdue. As at 31 December 2021, included in amount receivable arising from the 
ordinary course of securities and options clearing houses and brokers was a net receivable from Hong 
Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited (“HKSCC”) of HK$20,352,000 (2020: 5,303,000), with legally 
enforceable right to set off the corresponding receivable and payable balances. Details of the offsetting of 
these balances are set out in note 16(c) to consolidated financial statements.
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Analysis on accounts receivable other than accounts receivable arising from securities margin clients (Continued)

i. (Continued)

(4) At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of accounts receivable net of impairment arising 
from the provision of corporate finance advisory services, based on the invoice date which approximates 
the respective revenue recognition dates, was as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 619 670

Overdue:
Within 30 days 1,316 885
31–90 days 105 86
91–180 days 138 25

2,178 1,666

(5) The movements in the impairment of accounts receivable other than securities margin clients were as 
follows:

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
not credit- 

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
simplified
approach Total

(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 – – 89 3,320 3,409
New assets originated (note 1) – – – 701 701
Charged to profit or loss – – 38 774 812
Amount written off (note 2) – – – (2,290) (2,290)

As at 31 December 2020  
and 1 January 2021 – – 127 2,505 2,632

New assets originated (note 1) – – – 1,356 1,356
Charged to profit or loss – – 37 100 137
Amount written off (note 2) – – – (597) (597)

As at 31 December 2021 – – 164 3,364 3,528

Notes:

1. During the year ended 31 December 2021, new origination of account receivables arising from 
the provision of corporate finance advisory services with gross amount of HK$3,433,000 (2020: 
HK$2,241,000) resulted in an increase in loss allowance of HK$1,356,000 (2020: HK$701,000).

2. During the year ended 31 December 2021, accounts receivable amounted to approximately 
HK$597,000 (2020: HK$2,290,000) were written off. The Group writes off amounts receivable when 
there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery.
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) Offsetting
The Group has netted off the amounts receivable and amounts payable with the securities and options clearing house. 
An analysis of amounts receivable/(payable) subject to offsetting is set out as follows:

2021

Gross amount of 
recognised 

financial assets

Gross amount of 
recognised financial 

liabilities set off 
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position

Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amount 
not set off in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position Net
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts receivable 36,288 (15,936) 20,352 (2,148) 18,204

2021

Gross amount of 
recognised 

financial liabilities

Gross amount of 
recognised financial 

assets set off 
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position

Net amount of 
financial liabilities 
presented in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amount 
not set off in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position Net
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable 18,084 (15,936) 2,148 (2,148) –

2020

Gross amount of 
recognised 

financial assets

Gross amount of 
recognised financial 

liabilities set off 
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position

Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amount 
not set off in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position Net
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts receivable 114,098 (108,795) 5,303 (5,303) –

2020

Gross amount of 
recognised 

financial liabilities

Gross amount of 
recognised financial 

assets set off 
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position

Net amount of 
financial liabilities 
presented in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Related amount 
not set off in the 

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position Net
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable 159,395 (108,795) 50,600 (5,303) 45,297



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

115Annual Report 2021　Southwest Securities International Securities Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 9,082 5,101
Statutory deposits with the Stock Exchange 5,584 10,133
Contributions to the Central Clearing and Settlement System  

Guarantee Fund 68 33

14,734 15,267

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no impairment allowance was charged to profit or loss (2020: nil).

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances, representing cash and cash equivalents  
in the consolidated statement of cash flows 285,073 382,180

The Group maintains trust accounts with banks to deal with clients’ monies in the ordinary course of 
business. At the end of the reporting period, trust monies not otherwise dealt with in the consolidated 
financial statements amounted to HK$262,759,000 (2020: HK$257,717,000).



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

116 Southwest Securities International Securities Limited　Annual Report 2021 

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 
changes are set out in the following table. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for 
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans

Interest
payable

including in
other payable

and accrued
charges

Bonds 
payable

Lease 
liabilities

Net assets
attributable

to holders
of third party

interests in
consolidated

investment 
fund Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2021 – 21,990 1,548,676 32,476 1,059 1,604,201

Changes from financing  
cash flows:

Proceeds from short-term bank  
loans (Note (i)) 519,700 – – – – 519,700

Repayment of short-term bank  
loans (Note (i)) (519,700) – – – – (519,700)

Bank loans interest paid (208) – – – – (208)
Repayment of bonds issued – – (1,553,471) – – (1,553,471)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds – – 1,379,998 – – 1,379,998
Payment of transaction costs on 

issuance of bonds – – (7,715) – – (7,715)
Repayment of principal portion of 

lease liabilities – – – (15,709) – (15,709)
Interest paid on bonds issued – (79,268) – – – (79,268)
Other interest paid – (760) – (1,790) – (2,550)
Capital injection by third party 

interests in consolidated 
investment fund – – – – 4,000 4,000

Total changes from financing  
cash flows (208) (80,028) (181,188) (17,499) 4,000 (274,923)

Exchange difference – 166 11,053 – – 11,219
Other changes:
Finance costs (note 6a) 208 79,772 3,971 1,790 – 85,741
New lease agreements (note 38) – – – 1,206 – 1,206
Fair value losses arising from 

investment fund – – – – 349 349

At 31 December 2021 – 21,900 1,382,512 17,973 5,408 1,427,793
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Bank loans

Interest 
payable 

including in 
other payable 

and accrued 
charges

Bonds 
payable

Lease 
liabilities

Net assets
attributable

to holders
of third party

interests in
consolidated

investment 
fund Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 – 22,079 1,549,172 47,352 – 1,618,603

Changes from financing  
cash flows:

Proceeds from short-term bank  
loans (Note (i)) 609,710 – – – – 609,710

Repayment of short-term bank  
loans (Note (i)) (609,710) – – – – (609,710)

Bank loans interest paid (296) – – – – (296)
Principal portion of lease payment – – – (14,876) – (14,876)
Interest paid on bonds issued – (106,972) – – – (106,972)
Other interest paid – (170) – (2,807) – (2,977)
Capital injection by third party 

interests in consolidated 
investment fund – – – – 1,000 1,000

Total changes from financing  
cash flows (296) (107,142) – (17,683) 1,000 (124,121)

Exchange difference – (190) (6,233) – – (6,423)
Other changes:
Finance costs (note 6a) 296 107,243 5,737 2,807 – 116,083
Net gains from proprietary  

trading – – – – 59 59

At 31 December 2020 – 21,990 1,548,676 32,476 1,059 1,604,201

Note:

(i) Short-term bank loans of HK$519,700,000 (2020: HK$609,710,000) were drawn down for the Group’s margin 
financing business, in which HK$399,700,000 (2020: HK$329,710,000) were secured by new issued shares of 
a listed company subscribed by margin clients and HK$120,000,000 (2020: HK$280,000,000) were secured by 
listed shares owned by margin clients with original maturity within one month and bear interests with reference 

to the costs of funds of the banks. The short-term bank loans were subsequently settled during the year.
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19. BONDS PAYABLE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current 1,382,512 –
Current – 1,548,676

1,382,512 1,548,676

2021 2019
USD Bonds USD Bonds Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 – 1,549,172 1,549,172
Imputed interest expenses for the year (note 6(a)) – 5,737 5,737
Exchange difference – (6,233) (6,233)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020  
and 1 January 2021 – 1,548,676 1,548,676

Net amount upon issuance (note (iii)) 1,372,283 – 1,372,283
Imputed interest expenses for the year (note 6(a)) 2,205 1,766 3,971
Exchange difference 8,024 3,029 11,053
Principal repayment – (1,553,471) (1,553,471)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 1,382,512 – 1,382,512

Notes:

(i) On 9 February 2021, the Company issued bonds with aggregate principal amount of US$178,000,000 (the “2021 USD 
Bonds”). The 2021 USD Bonds bear interest from 9 February 2021 (inclusive) at the fixed rate of 4.00% per annum and 
guaranteed by SWSC. Interest on 2021 USD Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears. The 2021 USD Bonds are listed 
on the Stock Exchange and will mature on 9 February 2024 with the outstanding principal and interest payable at the 
maturity date. The fair value determined with reference to the quoted price provided by brokers/financial institutions 
as at 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$1,409,063,000. Details of the bonds are set out in the Company’s 
announcements on 1 and 10 February 2021.

The 2021 USD Bonds are carried at amortised cost using an effective interest rate of 4.2% per annum.

(ii) On 17 April 2019, the Company issued bonds with aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “2019 USD 
Bonds”). The 2019 USD Bonds bear interest from 17 April 2019 (inclusive) at the fixed rate of 6.9% per annum and 
guaranteed by SWSC. Interest on the 2019 USD Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears. The 2019 USD Bonds were 
listed on the Stock Exchange. On 10 February 2021, the Company repurchased and cancelled US$59,400,000 of the 
2019 USD Bonds. The remaining portion US$140,600,000 were matured and fully settled on 17 April 2021. Details of 
the bonds are set out in the Company’s announcements on 8 and 11 April 2019 and 11 February 2021.

The 2019 USD Bonds were carried at amortised cost using an effective interest rate of 7.29% per annum.

(iii) It represented the proceeds from issuance of bonds of approximately HK$1,379,998,000 after deducting 
the payment of transactions costs on issuance of bonds of approximately HK$7,715,000.
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Index futures contracts held for trading (i) 6,747 2,724

The notional amount of the derivative financial instruments are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Index futures contracts trading in Hong Kong market 527,194 299,407
Index futures contracts trading in overseas market 150,047 –

Index futures contracts 677,241 299,407

Note:

(i) The futures contracts are classified as held for trading. As at 31 December 2021, the fair values of the futures contracts 
were amounted to approximately HK$6,747,000 (2020: HK$2,724,000). Fair value was determined with reference to 
quoted market prices in active markets. During the year, the loss on unrealised and realised change in fair value of 
futures contracts amounting to approximately HK$85,416,000 (2020: gain of HK$78,612,000) was recognised in the 
profit or loss.

21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable arising from the ordinary course of  
business of brokerage services in securities, futures and  
options contracts:
– securities margin clients (i) 551 5
– securities cash clients (i) 24,778 5,280
– securities clearing house (i) 2,147 50,600
– futures clients (ii) – 1,838

Accounts payable arising from proprietary trading 41,139 –
Accounts payable arising from the provision of  

insurance brokerage services (iii) 54 43
Accounts payable to brokers (i) – 143

68,669 57,909
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21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (Continued)
Notes:

Settlement terms

(i) The settlement terms of accounts payable arising from the ordinary course of business of brokerage in securities in 
respect of cash clients, margin clients, clearing house and brokers are one to three trading days after the transaction 
date.

(ii) Accounts payable arising from the ordinary course of business of brokerage in index, commodity and currency futures 
contracts represent the margin deposits received from clients for their trading in futures contracts. The excess over the 
required margin deposits are repayable to clients on demand.

(iii) Accounts payable arising from the provision of insurance brokerage services are payable within 30 days.

No ageing analysis is disclosed in respect of accounts payable. In the opinion of the Directors of the Company as an ageing 
analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of brokerage business.

Interest with reference to savings rate of financial institutions is payable to accounts payable arising from the ordinary course 
of business of brokerage services in securities, futures and options contracts subject to their balances maintained with the 
Group. All other categories of accounts payable are non-interest-bearing.

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued charges 11,701 14,121
Interest payables 21,900 21,990
Other payables 216 6,930

33,817 43,041
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23. PROVISIONS

Staff bonus Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 7,000 5,972 12,972

Additional provision 35,450 – 35,450
Amounts paid during the year (7,000) (2,262) (9,262)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 35,450 3,710 39,160

Additional provision – 331 331
Reversal during the year (note 5) (1,000) – (1,000)
Amounts paid during the year (15,664) (1,676) (17,340)

At 31 December 2021 18,786 2,365 21,151

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Presented as:
Current liabilities 21,151 37,126
Non-current liabilities – 2,034

21,151 39,160
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION
Recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Assets Liabilities

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation allowances – – (35) (250)
Tax losses 35 250 – –

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 35 250 (35) (250)
Offset deferred tax assets and liabilities (35) (250) 35 250

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) – – – –

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deductible temporary differences 16,174 14,395
Tax losses 1,189,387 1,342,549

1,215,561 1,356,944

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has estimated unused tax losses of approximately HK$1,189,599,000 
(2020: HK$1,344,064,000) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised 
in respect of HK$212,000 (2020: HK$1,515,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$1,189,387,000 (2020: HK$1,342,549,000) due to unpredictability of 
future profit streams. The estimated unused tax losses have no expiry date but are subject to further approval 
of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately HK$16,386,000 
(2020: HK$15,910,000). A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$212,000 (2020: 
HK$1,515,000) of such deductible temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation 
to remaining deductible temporary difference of HK$16,174,000 (2020: HK$14,395,000) as it is not probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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25. NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF THIRD-PARTY INTERESTS 
IN CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUND
Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund, namely Southwest 
SPC Fund, are reflected as a liability since they can be put back to the Group for cash. The realisation of net 
assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund cannot be predicted with 
accuracy since these represent the interest of third-party interests shareholders in consolidated investment fund 
that are subject to the actions of the third-party interests shareholders.

Southwest SPC Fund

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 720,337 469,844
Current liabilities 62,212 18,146
Equity attributable to owners of Southwest SPC Fund 658,125 451,698
Profit for the year 46,467 50,698

26. SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020

Number of 
shares Amount

Number of 
shares Amount

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
At the beginning and end of the year 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000

Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning and end of the year 3,661,830 366,182 3,661,830 366,182
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of 
shares in issue Share capital

’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 3,661,830 366,182

At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 3,661,830 366,182

27. OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENT
On 15 October 2019, the Company issued HK$580 million perpetual securities (the “other equity instrument”) 
with an initial distribution rate of 3.875% per annum. The Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to 
defer, in whole or in part, any distribution declared by the Company. The other equity instrument have no 
fixed redemption date and may be redeemed in whole or in part at any time at the sole discretion of the 
Company on giving prior notice to the holder of the other equity instrument, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions stated in the subscription agreement. The other equity instrument constitute direct, unconditional, 
subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Company and are classified as equity instruments and recorded 
as equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. On 14 October 2021, the Company had declared 
the distribution an amount of HK$4,802,877 to the holder of the other equity instrument.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 November 2013, the shareholders of the Company 
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) and the termination 
of the share option scheme which was adopted by the Company on 30 January 2004 (the “2004 Share Option 
Scheme”). The 2013 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from the date of adoption. 
Options granted under the 2004 Share Option Scheme prior to such termination will continue to be valid and 
exercisable in accordance with the rules of the 2004 Share Option Scheme.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, there were no outstanding share option and no share 
option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under both the 2004 Share Option Scheme and the 2013 
Share Option Scheme.
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29. RETIREMENT SCHEME BENEFIT
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a mandatory 
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which comply with all the respective requirements under the 
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance and the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

Contributions to the ORSO Scheme depend on employees’ service years, and range from five to seven per 
cent of their basic salaries.

Employees under the ORSO Scheme are entitled fully to the employer’s contributions upon completion of ten 
service years, or at a reduced scale upon completion of three to nine service years. Forfeited contributions by 
the qualified employees who left the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions are used to reduce the 
Group’s contributions.

Contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at five percent of the relevant income of each employee 
subject to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month. All statutory contributions under the MPF Scheme are 
immediately fully vested on the employees.

The aggregate employer’s contributions, which have been dealt with in profit or loss for the year amounted to:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes charged  
to profit or loss (Note 6(b)) 1,207 1,428

Note: It is no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employer's contributions for the both years.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, 
there were related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year, details of which are set out 
below:

Related party relationship Nature of transaction 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Key management personnel,  
other than Directors of  
the Company

Salaries, commission and allowances 11,931 13,434
Contributions to retirement  

benefit schemes 135 161

12,066 13,595
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through 
profit or loss

2021

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost
Held for 
trading Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Other non-current assets 3,400 – 3,400
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 1,227,529 1,227,529
Financial assets at fair value through other  

comprehensive income – – –
Accounts receivable 205,855 – 205,855
Financial assets included in prepayments,  

other receivables and other assets 12,013 – 12,013
Cash and bank balances 285,073 – 285,073

506,341 1,227,529 1,733,870

2021

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities
Bonds payable 1,382,512 – 1,382,512
Derivative financial liabilities – 6,747 6,747
Accounts payable 68,669 – 68,669
Financial liabilities included in other payables and  

accrued charges 22,116 – 22,116
Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests  

in consolidated investment fund – 5,408 5,408

1,473,297 12,155 1,485,452
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through 
profit or loss

2020

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost
Held for 
trading Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Other non-current assets 8,048 – 8,048
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 1,391,161 1,391,161
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income – – –
Accounts receivable 176,300 – 176,300
Financial assets included in prepayments,  

other receivables and other assets 12,227 – 12,227
Cash and bank balances 382,180 – 382,180

578,755 1,391,161 1,969,916

2020

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities
Bonds payable 1,548,676 – 1,548,676
Derivative financial liabilities – 2,724 2,724
Accounts payable 57,909 – 57,909
Financial liabilities included in other payables and  

accrued charges 22,512 – 22,512
Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in 

consolidated investment fund – 1,059 1,059

1,629,097 3,783 1,632,880
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: interest-rate risk, credit risk, foreign exchange risk, 
liquidity risk and equity price risk. The Group’s overall risk control focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Risk Control Committee (“RCC”) is responsible for establishing and reviewing credit policies and 
procedures to minimise systematic and non-systematic credit and financial risks of the Group. The RCC is also 
responsible for assessing the risk of long term investments and proprietary trading.

Interest-rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain accounts receivable from securities margin clients with 
floating interest rates and bank balances and bonds payable. The Group manages its interest rate exposures 
by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and 
outlook. The management will review the proportion of borrowings in floating rates and ensure they are within 
reasonable range.

The Group’s investments in debt securities being classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and bonds payable bear fixed interest rates. Therefore, in the opinion of the directors, the interest rate risk 
arising from the debt securities and bonds payable are considered to be minimal.

As at 31 December 2021, if the interest rate on the bank balances is 50 basis points higher/lower, which was 
considered reasonably possible by management, with all other variables held constant, the loss before tax 
for the year of the Group would have decreased/increased by HK$1,425,000 (2020: decreased/increased by 
HK$1,912,000) as a result of higher/lower interest income.

The Group has interest earning assets in securities margin loans to clients and the exposure to interest rate risk 
mainly arises on certain client securities margin accounts with floating interest rates. As at 31 December 2021, 
if the interest rate on the accounts receivable arising from margin loans is 50 basis points higher/lower, which 
was considered reasonably possible by management, with all other variables held constant, the loss before tax 
for the year would have decreased/increased by HK$218,000 (2020: decreased/increased by HK$554,000) as a 
result of higher/lower interest income.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk for all financial assets that a client or counterparty in a transaction may 
default on settlement. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail 
to perform their obligations as at the end of the reporting period, in relation to each class of financial assets, 
is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. 
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its 
financial assets, except that the credit risks associated with accounts receivable from securities margin clients is 
mitigated to the extent that they are secured by listed securities.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has set up the Credit Review Committee 
responsible for determination of credit approvals.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 13% (2020: 30%) and 18% (2020: 47%) 
of the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers 
respectively within the brokerage and margin financing business segment. The Group’s concentration of credit 
risk by geographical location is mainly in Hong Kong.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk arising 
from below major recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position:

• Bank deposits and balances are placed with authorised financial institutions in Hong Kong and reputable 
financial institution in the PRC, which management believes are of high credit quality.

• For accounts receivable from the ordinary course of business of brokerage services in securities margin 
clients, the Group’s policy requires the review of individual outstanding amounts regularly depending 
on individual circumstances or market condition. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held, 
which is valued on a daily basis for marketable securities, and the anticipated receipts for that individual 
account. Details of the impairment of accounts receivable from the ordinary course of business of 
brokerage services in securities margin clients are included in note 16.

• For the debt securities investments and other low credit risk items, management monitors the credit 
quality on these investments on a regular basis and consider the credit risk is manageable.

The table below details the credit quality of the Group's assets as well as the Group's maximum exposure to 
credit risk by credit risk rating grades.

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Notes
External 

credit rating
Internal 

credit rating
12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable  
– Margin clients 16 N/A

Excellent/
Good 12-month 42,885 – 42,885 85,189 – 85,189

Accounts receivable  
– Margin clients 16 N/A

Individually
impaired Lifetime 536,499 (536,389) 110 538,864 (536,381) 2,483

Accounts receivable  
– other than margin clients 16 N/A N/A Lifetime 160,846 (164) 160,682 87,089 (127) 86,962

Accounts receivable  
– other than margin clients 16 N/A N/A Lifetime 5,542 (3,364) 2,178 4,171 (2,505) 1,666

Other receivables and others 
assets 17 N/A Performing 12-month 12,013 – 12,013 12,227 – 12,227

Cash and bank balances 18 N/A N/A 12-month 285,073 – 285,073 382,180 – 382,180
Other non-current assets 14 N/A N/A 12-month 3,400 – 3,400 8,048 – 8,048
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk
The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of United States 
dollar (“U.S. dollar”) in respect of bond payable is set in note 19.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the management of the 
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure 
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis is not presented as the Group considers the risk exposure to foreign currency fluctuation in 
U.S. dollar would be minimal as long as the Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the U.S. dollar.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated 
with financial instruments. The Group manages to maintain its liquidity position at a prudent and adequate 
level. The directors of the Company monitor the cash flows daily to ensure sufficient funds are available. The 
senior management would also review the liquidity level in compliance with the statutory requirements for the 
licensed subsidiaries.

Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund is repayable on 
demand and included in the “less than 3 months or on demand” time band in the maturity analysis below.

The amounts included below for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could 
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the 
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate 
is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is 
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer 
credit losses.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Apart from the items mentioned above, the remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group’s 
non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the earliest date on which the 
Group is required to settle, and the Group’s derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, 
based on the contractual maturities as the management consider that the contractual maturities are essential 
for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives is summarised below:

2021 2020

Less than 
3 months 

or on 
demand

3 to 12 
months 1–5 years Total

Carrying 
amount

Less than 
3 months 

or on 
demand

3 to 12 
months 1–5 years Total

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities

Bonds payable – – 1,526,868 1,526,868 1,382,512 – 1,603,930 – 1,603,930 1,548,676
Accounts payable 68,669 – – 68,669 68,669 57,909 – – 57,909 57,909
Financial liabilities included in 

other payables and accrued 
charges 216 21,900 – 22,116 22,116 522 21,990 – 22,512 22,512

Net assets attributable to  
holders of third-party interests  
in consolidated investment 
fund 5,408 – – 5,408 5,408 1,059 – – 1,059 1,059

Financial guarantee contract 80,000 – – 80,000 80,000 80,000 – – 80,000 80,000
Derivative financial liabilities-

net settlement
Futures contracts 6,747 – – 6,747 6,747 2,724 – – 2,724 2,724

161,040 21,900 1,526,868 1,709,808 1,565,452 142,214 1,625,920 – 1,768,134 1,712,880

To further disclose the maturity analysis, when the liquidity exposure of the lease liabilities included above may 
not enable the users of the financial statements to evaluate the extent of liquidity risk.

Additional information about the maturity of lease liabilities is provided in the following table:

Lease liabilities (Note 12) 4,344 14,181 157 18,682 17,973 4,421 13,167 18,081 35,669 32,476
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels 
of equity indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from 
individual equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2020 and 2021, details of which have 
been set out in notes 13 and 15 respectively. The Group’s listed investments are mainly listed on the Stock 
Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZSE”) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”) and are valued at 
quoted market bid prices at the end of the reporting period. The risk management department is responsible 
for monitoring the equity price risk.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the fair 
value of equity investments, with all other variables held constant had occurred at the end of the reporting 
period and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date.

At the end of the reporting period, if the equity price had been 5% (2020: 5%) higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would be decreased/increased by HK$44,697,000 (2020:  
decreased/increased by HK$64,111,000) as a result of changes in fair value of listed financial assets classified as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value 
in these consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair 
value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.

2021

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 730,457 730,457 – –
– Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong 131,976 131,976 – –
– Debt securities listed in Hong Kong 272,627 272,627 – –
– Debt securities listed outside Hong Kong 60,957 60,957 – –
– Unlisted fund investments 31,512 – 31,512 –

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income
– Unlisted equity securities – – – –

Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss
– Derivative financial liabilities 6,747 6,747 – –
– Net assets attributable to holders of  

third-party interests in  
consolidated investment fund 5,408 – 5,408 –

2020

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 917,656 917,656 – –
– Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong 333,048 333,048 – –
– Debt securities listed in Hong Kong 70,866 – 70,866 –
– Debt securities listed outside Hong Kong 38,083 38,083 – –
– Unlisted fund investments 31,508 – 31,508 –

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income
– Unlisted equity securities (Note) – – – –

Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss
– Derivative financial liabilities 2,724 2,724 – –
– Net assets attributable to holders of  

third-party interests in  
consolidated investment fund 1,059 – 1,059 –
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
Management has assessed that the carrying amounts of other non-current assets, accounts receivable, other 
receivables and other assets, cash and bank balances, accounts payable and other payables and bonds 
payable of the Group approximate their fair values largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments 
or immaterial impact on discounting for non-current assets.

Note:

Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year are as follows:

HK$’000

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 –
Total gains recognised in other comprehensive income 75
Disposed during the year (75)

At 31 December 2021 –

The fair value is determined with reference to the latest net asset value of the investments which are the 
deemed resale reference price of the investments. Management has determined that the reported net asset 
values represent fair value of these investments.

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurement
The fair values of unlisted fund investments and net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in 
consolidated investment fund are determined by using valuation techniques and inputs using third-party 
pricing information without adjustment from the fund managers and the bank.

(i) Unlisted fund investments
The fair values are determined by their net assets values quoted by the relevant investment trusts with 
reference to the underlying assets (mainly listed securities) of the fund.

(ii) Net assets attributable to holders of third-party interests in consolidated investment fund
The fair value was determined with reference to the net asset value of the underlying investments which 
were valued at active market price.

Valuation processes of the Group
The Directors of the Company determine the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair 
value measurement. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Directors use market-observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors would engage third party 
qualified valuer to perform the valuation for significant assets and liabilities.
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to support the Group’s growth and maximise shareholder’s value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions, future capital requirement of the Group and investment opportunities. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares and bonds. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements except for certain subsidiaries 
engaged in securities and futures dealings and broking, corporate finance and investment advisory services, 
asset management and insurance broking services which are regulated entities under the Securities and Futures 
Commission, the Insurance Authority and subject to the respective minimum capital requirements. There was 
no non-compliance in capital management during the year 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is bonds payable divided by the total shareholders’ 
equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. At the end of the reporting 
period, there were borrowings of approximately HK$1,382,512,000 (2020: HK$1,548,676,000) for financing the 
operations of the Group which resulted in a gearing ratio of 629.1% (2020: 546.3%).

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company had issued an unlimited guarantee for a facility amounted to HK$80,000,000 (2020: 
HK$80,000,000) for banking facilities granted to subsidiaries from banks, which none of the amount was 
utilised (2020: Nil).
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
The statement of financial position of the Company and the movements in its reserves are set out below:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Interest in subsidiaries (a) – –

– –

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,277,236 1,417,709
Deposits, prepayments and other assets 89,905 155,639
Amounts due from subsidiaries 192,484 252,821
Cash and bank balances 75,222 31,784

1,634,847 1,857,953

Current liabilities
Bonds payable – 1,548,577
Derivative financial liabilities 5,415 2,724
Other payables and accrued charges 27,262 23,171

32,677 1,574,472

Net current assets 1,602,170 283,481

Total assets less current liabilities 1,602,170 283,481

Non-current liabilities
Bonds payable 1,382,404 –

1,382,404 –

NET ASSETS 219,766 283,481

Capital and reserves
Share capital 366,182 366,182
Reserves (b) (726,416) (662,701)
Other equity instrument 580,000 580,000

TOTAL EQUITY 219,766 283,481

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

WU Jian ZHAO Mingxun
Director Director
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Notes:

(a) Interests in subsidiaries

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000

Interests in subsidiaries 1,052,315 1,033,315
Less: Impairment loss recognised (1,052,315) (1,033,315)

– –

(b) Movements of the reserves

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note ii) (Note i) (Note iii)

At 1 January 2021 248,918 65,059 (976,678) (662,701)

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – (63,715) (63,715)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – (63,715) (63,715)

At 31 December 2021 248,918 65,059 (1,040,393) (726,416)

At 1 January 2020 248,918 65,059 (838,011) (524,034)

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – (138,667) (138,667)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – (138,667) (138,667)

At 31 December 2020 248,918 65,059 (976,678) (662,701)

Notes:

(i) Contributed surplus
Contributed surplus represents the difference between the aggregate net asset value of subsidiaries acquired 
as a result of the reorganisation and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition. 
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus of the Company is available 
for distribution. However, the Company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of the 
contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) it would, or would after the payment, be 
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realised value of its assets would thereby be less than 
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

(ii) Share premium
The share premium account of the Company of HK$248,918,000 (2020: HK$248,918,000) can be distributed in 
the form of fully paid bonus shares pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

(iii) Distributable reserves
At the end of the reporting period, in the opinion of the Directors, there is no reserve of the Company available 
for distribution to shareholders subject to the restriction stated above (2020: Nil).
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The below table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Company, principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Details of the principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
place of operation

Particulars of issued
and fully paid
share capital Proportion of ownership interest Principal activities

Group’s effective
interest

Held by the
Company

Held by 
a subsidiary

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Southwest Securities (HK) Financial 
Management Limited (note a)

British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$10,000 (divided into 
10,000 ordinary shares of 
US$1 each)

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Investment holding

Southwest Securities (HK) Asset 
Management Limited (“SWSAM”) 
(note a)

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$44,000,000 
ordinary shares and 
HK$6,000,000 
deferred non-voting shares

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Provision of asset 
management services, 
distribution of unit trusts 
and mutual funds

Southwest Securities (HK) 
Capital Limited (note a)

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$79,000,000 
ordinary shares

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Provision of corporate 
finance advisory services

Southwest Securities (HK) Futures 
Limited (“SWSFUT”) 
(note a)

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$60,000,000 ordinary 
shares and HK$10,000,000 
deferred non-voting shares

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Futures broking

Southwest Securities (HK) Brokerage 
Limited (“SWSB”) (note a)

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$775,000,000 ordinary 
shares and HK$25,000,000 
deferred non-voting shares

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Securities broking, margin 
financing and distribution 
of unit trusts and mutual 
funds

Southwest Securities (HK) Wealth 
Management Limited (note a)

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$29,000,000 
ordinary shares

100% 100% 100% 100% – – Distribution of investment-
linked products, mandatory 
provident fund products, 
provision of personal 
financial consulting and 
planning services and 
provision of insurance 
broking services

Southwest SPC Fund (“SPC”) (note b) Cayman Islands 100 non-participating voting 
management shares of 
US$0.01 par value each

98.92% 
(note d)

99.77% 98.92% 99.77% – – Investment fund

In accordance with Articles of Association of each of SWSAM, SWSFUT and SWSB, holders of non-voting 
deferred shares are entitled to a fixed non-cumulative dividend at a rate of Hong Kong one cent (HK$0.01) per 
non-voting deferred share when the profit exceeds HK$100,000,000,000 in any financial year.

Note a: The Company has 100% voting power in these subsidiaries.
Note b: The Group has 100% voting power in these subsidiaries via the holding of management shares.
Note c: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during both years or/and at the end of both years.
Note d: The effective interest held by the Group was diluted from 99.77% to 98.92% as a result of capital injection by the 

third-party interest shareholders during the year 2021. In the opinion of the director of the Company, there is no 
material financial impact to the Group.
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSATION
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into a new arrangement in respect of property. 
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,206,000 (2020: nil) were recognised at the commencement of 
the leases.

39. COMPARTIVE FIGURE
The comparative figures in consolidated statement of cash flows have been restated to conform with the 
current year’s presentation. These reclassifications have no impact on the Group's loss for the year ended 31 
December 2020 and the Group's total equity as at 31 December 2020. Interest paid previously grouped as 
operating activity had been reclassified as financing activities in current year.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
　

RESULTS:

Financial year/period

1/1/2021 – 
31/12/2021

1/1/2020 – 
31/12/2020

1/1/2019 – 
31/12/2019

1/1/2018 – 
31/12/2018

1/1/2017 – 
31/12/2017

1/1/2016 – 
31/12/2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 129,633 251,174 232,534 122,172 240,097 92,038

(Loss)/Profit before tax (58,983) (138,488) (346,838) (196,748) 4,092 (167,186)
Income tax credit (expense) – – 2,243 (5,000) (3,000) 263

(Loss)/Profit for the year/period (58,983) (138,488) (344,595) (201,748) 1,092 (166,923)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company (63,786) (138,488) (344,595) (201,748) 1,092 (166,923)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:

Assets and liabilities at

31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 31/12/2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 20,191 40,957 59,394 22,477 27,709 104,222
Current assets 1,735,852 1,967,569 2,076,442 2,003,700 2,172,078 2,040,151

Total assets 1,756,043 2,008,526 2,135,836 2,026,177 2,199,787 2,144,373

Current liabilities (153,609) (1,705,803) (130,006) (1,996,383) (1,950,877) (250,147)
Non-current liabilities (1,382,668) (19,242) (1,583,682) – – (1,659,157)

Total liabilities (1,536,277) (1,725,045) (1,713,688) (1,996,383) (1,950,877) (1,909,304)

Net assets 219,766 283,481 422,148 29,794 248,910 235,069

Current ratio 11.30 1.15 15.97 1.00 1.11 8.16
Gearing ratio 629% 546% 367% 6,530% 722% 706%
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